
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health Scrutiny Panel
12 January 2017

Time 2.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny

Venue Committee Room 3 - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership
Chair Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (Lab)
Vice-chair Cllr Wendy Thompson (Con)

Labour Conservative

Cllr Craig Collingswood
Cllr Peter O'Neill
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Judith Rowley
Cllr Stephen Simkins
Cllr Martin Waite

Cllr Arun Photay

Quorum for this meeting is two Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic support team:

Contact Julia Cleary
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555046 or julia.cleary@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Support, Civic Centre, 2nd floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
Email democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555043

Please take note of the protocol for filming and recording of, and use of social media in, meetings, copies 
of which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS

1 Apologies 

2 Declarations of Interest 

3 Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8)
[To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct record.]

4 Matters Arising 
[To consider any matters arising from the minutes.]

DISCUSSION ITEMS

5 Governance Review of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust (Pages 9 - 52)
[Report to be presented by Jeremy Vanes, Chairman of the Trust].

6 NHS Learning Disability In-patient provision at Pond Lane Hospital (Pages 53 
- 98)
[Sarah Fellows, Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group, to present report]

7 Update on Adult Mental Health Strategy 
[This report will be sent to follow]

8 Work Plan 
[To consider the work plan and any additional upcoming issues]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Health Scrutiny Panel
Minutes - 24 November 2016

Attendance

Members of the Health Scrutiny Panel

Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (Chair)
Cllr Peter O'Neill
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Arun Photay
Cllr Judith Rowley
Cllr Stephen Simkins
Cllr Wendy Thompson (Vice-Chair)

Employees and Officers 
Ros Jervis
David Loughton
Trisha Curran
Kieran Caldwell
Sarah Freeman
Dominic Kavanagh
Sarah Fellows

Brendon Clifford
Claire Nye
Julia Cleary

Service Director
Chief Executive – Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust
Chief Officer Wolverhampton CCG
Head of Service and Supplier Management (NHS England)
Service Specialist (NHS England)
Cystic Fibrosis Trust
Mental Health Commissioning Manager – Wolverhampton 
CCG
Public Health and Wellbeing 
Chief Accountant
Scrutiny and Systems Manager

Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

1 Apologies
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Collingswood and Cllr Waite. 

2 Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest. 

3 Minutes of previous meeting
Resolved: That the minutes of the previous meeting be agreed as a correct 
record.

4 Matters Arising
There were no matters arising. 

5 West Midlands Cystic Fibrosis Services

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Chair welcomed Kieran Caldwell – Head of Service and Supplier Management 
(NHS England), Sarah Freeman – Service Specialist (NHS England) and Dominic 
Kavanagh from the Cystic Fibrosis Trust.

Mr Caldwell stated that the services relating to cystic fibrosis were highly specialised 
and that it was deemed sensible to try and centralise expertise across the West 
Midlands.  

Mr Caldwell explained that Cystic Fibrosis services in the West Midlands were 
commissioned by NHS England’s specialised commissioning team. There were 487 
patients currently in adult care and 392 patients in paediatric care across the West 
Midlands, including those that did not yet need inpatient care.

Commissioners had identified a growing demand for services and the need for 
another Cystic Fibrosis (CF) inpatient unit in the West Midlands. This led to work 
being undertaken with the Royal Wolverhampton Hospitals NHS Trust (RWT) which 
opened a new, specially designed outpatient unit in April 2016 (Heart of England 
Foundation Trust (HEFT)). However, the Trust was unable to develop the facilities 
required for an inpatient service in Wolverhampton.

It was stated that there would be some capacity at the University Hospital North 
Midlands and that outpatient care was being negotiated for Wolverhampton with 
additional capacity in Leicester and Nottingham whilst work was being undertaken at 
the Heart of England facility. 

Dominic Kavanagh from the Cystic Fibrosis Trust stated that he attended the Heart of 
England facility following a double lung transplant. Mr Kavanagh stated that 
members of the Trust had been consulted and he had been involved in a peer review 
of other cystic fibrosis services which had provided him with a good understanding of 
what good care was. Mr Kavanagh stated that people with cystic fibrosis were 
generally very aware of what was required to maintain good health and were often 
not adverse to travelling longer distances to receive the required levels of care. 

Impatient care was currently provided at the Royal Stoke Hospital and the model 
used was similar to what was wanted for Wolverhampton with all but 2 patients 
moving to this model.

The aim was to continue to expand services at the Heart of England Foundation 
Trust and Royal Stoke but it was also realised that an additional centre was needed 
and that expressions of interest were being sought from existing respiratory centres.  

Mr Caldwell agreed that resources would always be a concern but that there had 
been a good response from the hospitals regarding bringing a plan together. This 
plan included the development of existing wards at Heartlands to create wards with a 
negative air pressure and the use of more outpatient treatment and individual clinic 
rooms. 

A question was raised regarding what steps were taken to ease the transfer of 
children into the adult services which could be traumatic if not handled correctly. It 
was stated that this was a familiar process and that there were transition clinics for 
those due to transfer in the next 6 months and visits were made to the Birmingham 
Children’s Hospital to help identify any future Wolverhampton patients. 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The query was raised as to whether cystic fibrosis was tested for automatically and it 
was confirmed that for the last 5 years all new babies were tested soon after birth. 

The Panel thanked Mr Caldwell, Mrs Freeman and Mr Kavanagh for their 
presentation. 

6 Draft Budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 - 2019/20
A report was present by Cllr Sweet, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Wellbeing. The report sought the Panel’s feedback on the Draft Budget 2017/18 
including the related Budget Reductions and Income Generation Proposals, Financial 
Transactions and Base Budget Revisions and underlying Medium Term Financial 
Strategy (MTFS) assumptions that were approved by Cabinet to proceed for formal 
consultation and scrutiny stages of the budget process, as appropriate, on 19 
October 2016.

Members recommended that if Officers were struggling to get hold of any data 
required to feed into the budget process that the Health and wellbeing Board might 
be able to assist.

The Panel also considered that the Department for Health Annual Report could also 
be used to gather statistical information or at least comparative information in relation 
to previous years (a report in relation to this was due to be considered at the next 
Health and Wellbeing board).

The Panel were satisfied with the proposals set out in the report provided that 
officers ensure that every precaution was taken to guarantee that all statutory duties 
were met and fulfilled; officers confirmed that this would be the case.

Resolved: That the recommendations be agreed and comments be fed back to 
the Scrutiny Board for consideration. .

7 Update on Vertical Integration
The Panel received a presentation from David Loughton, Chief Executive of the 
Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust.  The presentation updated the Panel on progress 
regarding vertical integration and the RWT VI Accountable Care Organisation pilot 
which had gone live on 1st June 2016

An Accountable Care Organisation (ACO) brought together the different component 
parts of care for the patient – primary care, specialists, hospitals, community 
services, etc, and ensured that all of the parts worked well together. An ACO was a 
network of doctors and hospitals that shared financial and medical responsibility for 
providing coordinated care to patients in hope of limiting unnecessary spending. At 
the heart of each patient’s care was a primary care team.

The Panel considered that it was fortunate that Wolverhampton had not gone down 
the PFI route and it was agreed that the current biggest issue was that of manpower 
and trained doctors.  The Panel considered that the issue of hubs had been looked at 
previously and questioned how the decision would be taken as to where to put them.

Mr Loughton stated that there would need to be negotiations and possible 
compromises regarding this with planners and landowners but that speed in setting 
the hubs up was very important. Mr Loughton stated that there was considerable 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

support from GPs regarding the project as it would help to free them up to focus on 
the medical rather that the business side of the profession. 

Mr Loughton stated that scrutiny would be formally consulted prior to any changes 
being made alongside less formal discussions which were starting already. 

The Panel queried whether there would be any scope to provide chemists and 
pharmacies with a more involved role. It was agreed that yes this would be 
considered and staff would need to be used in different ways to make use of their 
strengths and that clinical pharmacists could be encouraged to specialise in an area 
thus freeing up GPs (similar to nurses taking on responsibility for diabetes clinics). It 
was also confirmed that there was a lot of work going on in relation to multi-
disciplinary teams.

Resolved: That the update be noted and that a further update be provided in 6 
months.

8 CCG Mental Health Strategy 2017/19
A verbal update was provided by Sarah Fellows, CCG Mental Health Commissioning 
Manager regarding the Mental Health Strategy for 2017/2019.

Mrs Fellows stated that this was a Joint Strategy and was lined to the CAMHS 
transformation agenda. Mrs Fellows explained that she was unable to provide a full 
report at this time as the NHS had moved contract negotiations forward regarding a 
new set of standards, possible developments regarding the Better Care Fund and the 
as yet unknown impact of the Sustainable Transformation Plan which was also 
currently being consulted on. 

Mrs Fellows confirmed that the services did continue to be developed especially in 
relation to urgent and planned care pathways to try and bring care closer to home 
and avoid the current bottleneck.

Members thanked Mrs Fellows and requested that a more comprehensive report be 
provided in January along with a timeline.

Resolved: That a further update (including a timeline) be provided to the next 
meeting.

9 The 100,000 Genomes Project
A report was provided by Charlotte Hitchcock, Genomics Ambassador. The report 
sought to inform and update the Health Scrutiny Panel about the 100,000 Genomes 
Project and the work of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust in implementing this 
innovative initiative. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS trust was making a substantial contribution to the 
work of the 100,000 Genomes Project as one of the West Midlands’ Genomic 
Medicine Centre’s Phase 2 Trusts. Mrs Hitchcock stated that there were 13 Genomic 
Medicine Centres in England of which the West Midlands Genomic Medicine Centre 
(WMGMC) was the largest with 18 Local Delivery Partner Trusts. Supported by the 
West Midlands Academic Health and Science Network, the WMGMC had 3 Genomic 
Ambassadors to cover the region. Mrs Hitchcock was the Ambassador for the Black 
Country and Worcester and was based at The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust and 
covered Wolverhampton, Dudley, Walsall and Worcestershire Trusts. Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Wolverhampton had achieved “go live” status for Rare Diseases in April of this year 
and Cancer “go live” status had followed in June.

To date there had been 70 participants including patients with rare diseases and their 
relatives and there were 20 people enrolled for the Cancer project. Mrs Hitchcock 
stated that at the moment she was the only person recruiting for the project and that 
it could only become sustainable if it became a service. Mrs Hitchcock did however 
confirm that nurses had been recruited and an assistant and that buy in from nurses 
was crucial in making the project a success. 

The Panel agreed that this was an excellent project but queried how feedback was 
provided to participants if a rare disease or cancer was found to be genetic as this 
could be distressing for the patient and their family members and that excellent 
counselling services needed to be in place. Mrs Hitchcock agreed and stated that by 
identifying any genetic illnesses though this project tailored treatment could then be 
provided for each family member. Mrs Hitchcock also confirmed that counselling 
services were in place along with advice from a geneticist. 

The Panel thanked Mrs Hitchcock for an excellent presentation. 

10 The Black Country Sustainable Transformation Plan
Resolved: That this item be deferred. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



9 November 2016

This Final Report has been prepared by Deloitte LLP solely for NHS Improvement’s (‘NHSI’) use and should not be relied upon by any other person. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Deloitte LLP does not accept or assume 

any responsibility or liability to any person other than NHSI in any way arising from or in connection with this Final Report or its provision. Its contents should not be quoted or referred to in whole or in part, other than when 

used to support development of the Trust’s action plan in response to this review, without Deloitte LLP’s prior written consent. The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust (‘Trust’) has received permission from Deloitte LLP and NHSI 

to publish this Final Report on the Trust website strictly on a non-reliance basis. NHSI and Deloitte LLP have received written confirmation from the individual Board members referenced specifically in this Final Report that they 

have (i) reviewed the report, (ii) had the opportunity to provide comments in relation to points of factual accuracy and (iii) understand that the Report will be published on the Trust website.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

Independent Review of Governance and Leadership

Final Report 

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 N
o: 5



2

Contacts and Contents

Page

Executive Summary 4

Project Scope 8

Glossary 11

Observations and Commentary

A.  Board Capacity and Capability 13

B. Board Governance 25

C. Divisional Leadership and Governance 35

Summary of Recommendations 40

Appendix 1: Statement of Responsibility 42

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016

The contacts at Deloitte in 
relation to this report are:

Dr Jay Bevington 
Partner

John Murray
Director

Tom Berry
Manager

FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 10



Deloitte LLP
2 Hardman Street
Manchester 
M3  3HF

Tel: +44 (0)161 832 3555
www.deloitte.co.uk

Fran Steele
NHS Improvement

Wellington House
133-155 Waterloo Road
London
SE1 8UG

9 November 2016

Dear Fran

Governance and Leadership review at The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

In accordance with our Contract dated 30 June 2016 (the ‘Contract’), for a Governance and Leadership 
review at The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust (the ‘Trust’), we enclose our final report for publication 
dated 9 November 2016 (the ‘Final Report’). 

The Final Report has been prepared for your sole use and shall be subject to the restrictions on use and 
other terms specified in the Contract.  Whilst we have agreed that the Final Report may be published on 
the Trust website, such publication may only be made on a non-reliance basis since no person except the 
addressee, NHSI, is entitled to rely on the Final Report for any purpose whatsoever and to the extent 
permitted by law we accept no responsibility or liability to any other person in respect of the contents of 
this Final Report. Should any person other than NHSI choose to rely on this Final Report, they will do so at 
their own risk.

NHSI is responsible for determining whether the scope of our work is sufficient for its purposes and we 
make no representation regarding the sufficiency of your procedures for making such determination.  

We have assumed that the information provided to us and management's representations are complete, 
accurate and reliable; we have not independently audited, verified or confirmed their accuracy, 
completeness or reliability. 

The matters raised in this Final Report are only those that came to our attention during the course of our 
work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the strengths or weaknesses that may exist 
or all improvements that might be made.  Any recommendations for improvements should be assessed by 
the Trust for their full impact before they are implemented.

This Final Report has been prepared solely on the basis of circumstances existing up to the time which it is 
dated. Changes in circumstances may affect the observations, recommendations and other commentary 
detailed in this Final Report. We have no responsibility to monitor the continuing relevance of suitability of 
this Final Report for the purposes it was supplied.

Yours faithfully

Deloitte LLP

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 11



4

Executive Summary

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 12



5

Executive Summary

We have undertaken a Governance and Leadership review at The 
Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust (the Trust) against the scope set 
out in our Contract with NHSI dated 30 June 2016.

We outline below a summary of our overall conclusions.

 The Trust has a stable, cohesive and experienced executive team who 
have delivered a number of innovative strategic initiatives, as well as 
achieving consistently good performance levels. The Executive Directors 
(EDs) are complemented by a number of established Non-Executive 
Directors (NEDs) who work well as a team and take their roles seriously. 
The Chair and CEO have developed a strong relationship, appear to work 
well together and have unified the Board over the last 3 years.

 The Chief Executive is a strong character with an impulsive style and can 
attract controversy from time to time. However, he is strongly supported 
by fellow Board members, the external stakeholders, senior clinical 
leaders and staff more generally that we spoke with as part of our 
review. His impulsive style is recognised by himself and colleagues and 
he has assembled a team around him which complements and balances 
his style.

 The Board is operating in a unitary manner and compares favourably 
with many others we have worked with. There is however potential for  
greater exposure by NEDs to activities at the divisional and directorate 
level. In addition, challenge from NEDs to EDs, including Chair to CEO 
challenge, needs to be strengthened in our opinion and the Trust would 
benefit from making two new NED appointments over the next 6-9 
months to help bring more balance to the support and challenge 
dynamic at Board-level.

 We have observed many areas of good practice across: Board 
committees; Board reporting; data quality and information; and risk 
management. We have however highlighted a number of potential areas 
for refinement throughout our report for consideration.

 The divisional structure is embedded having been in place for eleven 
years and is amongst the most mature set-ups we have observed in the 
NHS. Of particular note are: the high levels of clinical engagement; 
investment in leadership development; and standardisation of 
governance arrangements across divisions and directorates.  It is 
recognised that there may be a need to increase the number of divisions 
from two and that further work is required to ensure that the 

governance structure is consistently applied across directorates. There is 
also potential for a more multi-disciplinary approach to performance 
review between the corporate and divisional level.

Our review findings set out within this report are grouped into the following 
themes:  

 Board Capacity and Capability

 Board Governance 

 Divisional Governance and Leadership

A. Board Capacity and Capability

A.1 Executive Director leadership

A.1.1 Executive team capability and cohesion

The executive team at the Trust enjoys high levels of stability and is an 
experienced, cohesive and ambitious team. These characteristics, as well 
as an entrepreneurial culture, have aided the achievement of consistently 
good performance levels, in terms of quality, operations, finance and 
strategic developments.

A.1.2 CEO leadership

The Chief Executive Officer is a strong character with an impulsive and 
honest style and has attracted attention and negative publicity from time to 
time. However, feedback gathered during this review consistently points 
towards a CEO that furnishes a supportive and innovative culture amongst 
Board members and staff. Equally, he demonstrates a clear patient and 
staff focus, which has resulted in strong loyalty towards him throughout the 
organisation. The CEO has assembled a team around him which 
complements and balances his personal style. However, there is 
undoubtedly scope for the CEO to give further reflection to the impact his 
personal style can occasionally have on those around him.

A.1.3   The Executive triumvirate

The executive triumvirate (MD, CN and COO) have strong and supportive 
relationships and work well as a unit. However, there are inconsistencies in 
the management of the three portfolios that could potentially drive silo 
working practices and dilute the overall impact of the multi-disciplinary 
model.  We also note the need for greater medical coverage at various 
meetings, possibly aided through the appointment of a Deputy Medical 
Director.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 13



6

Executive Summary

A. Board Capacity and Capability (continued)

A.2 Non-Executive Director leadership

A.2.1 Non-Executive Director contribution

The NED cohort is well established and includes a range 
of skills and mix of styles. Individuals have demonstrated a good 
understanding of Trust activities; actively engage with EDs and staff; and 
take their roles seriously. 

A.2.2 Board interaction and scrutiny from Non-Executives

The Board operates in a unitary manner and compares well with many 
organisations we work with. However, challenge from NEDs to EDs needs 
to be strengthened in our opinion and the Board would benefit from 
making new NED appointments to help bring more balance to the 
challenge and support dynamic at Board-level.

A.2.3 Non-Executive Director visibility sub-Board

NEDs have a good understanding of the Trust agenda and are active 
outside of the Board room. However, there is scope for greater exposure 
to the divisional and directorate level through additional activities such 
as increased representation of divisions at Board level and potentially a 
NED buddying arrangement with divisions or directorates.

A.3 Board leadership 

A.3.1 Trust Chair and CEO dynamic

The Chair and CEO have very different styles but they are generally 
viewed by stakeholders as being complementary and forming the basis 
of a strong relationship. The Chair has also played a key role in unifying 
the Board over the last 3 years and is well respected amongst fellow 
Board members and external stakeholders. However, there is scope for 
greater challenge from the Chair to the CEO, similar to the supporting 
and challenging point discussed in A2.2.

A.3.2 Succession planning

The Trust has taken a proactive approach to ED succession planning 
although there is a lack of candidates for some key roles. Given the level 
of NED challenge issues discussed in A.2.2 and A.3.1 above, we believe 
that plans should be made to facilitate the succession planning and 
refresh of the Non-Executive group over the next 6-9 months with two 

new appointments. The Trust should also consider a medium term 
succession plan for the Chair given his time with the Trust at over 10 
years (8 years as NED, 2 years as Chair) is at the upper end of the 
tenure range.

A.3.3 Stakeholder engagement

EDs generally enjoy high profile and visibility both internally and 
externally.  The efforts of the Chair in forging external partnerships have 
also featured prominently throughout our review.  However, there is a 
view amongst some external stakeholders that the Trust can at times be 
perceived to withdraw from developments if the direction of travel is not 
fully aligned with the Trust agenda.

A.3.4 Board development

The Trust has a comprehensive Board development programme covering 
a range of topics and the results of our staff survey strongly indicate that 
the Board spends sufficient time together informally.

B. Board Governance

B.1 Board Committees

We have observed many areas of good practice in relation to the 
structure and operation of Board committees of the Trust and it 
compares favourably when benchmarked against other similar 
organisations. We have however highlighted a number of potential areas 
for refinement throughout our report for consideration.

B.2 Board reporting

The quality of Board reporting is mixed, with some elements of good 
practice and some areas that would benefit from improvement. High-
level feedback from interviews suggests that Board papers as a whole 
are onerous, with a variety of lengthy reports received on a regular 
basis. Furthermore, interviewees reflected that the reporting of certain 
items to various forums leads to a degree of duplication, with the reports 
reviewed and discussed numerous times prior to reaching the Board.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 14



7

Executive Summary

B. Board Governance (continued)

B.3 Data quality and information

Data quality practices are well embedded at the Trust with an up-to-date 
Data Quality Policy, a dedicated Data Quality team and divisional data 
quality leads. There has been strong results in Internal Audit reviews 
although we note the Trust does not make use of data kite-marking.

B.4 Risk Management

Risk management at the Trust is mature with clarity at both Board and 
operational levels regarding respective roles and responsibilities in 
relation to risk management. We have also observed many areas of good 
practice in relation to Trust use of the BAF, TRR and RMS. It is 
acknowledged that there is scope for further development in relation to 
the embeddedness of risk management practices at the operational 
level.

C. Divisional Governance and Leadership

C.1 Divisional leadership and structure

The divisional leadership model at the Trust has been in place for eleven 
years and it is acknowledged by Board and staff members to be a mature 
arrangement with a clear commitment to divisional autonomy and 
accountability. The Trust is an outlier to other similar organisations with 
only two clinical divisions although this is recognised and likely to evolve 
as the Trust goes down the ACO route.

C.2 Divisional and Directorate governance

The Trust has introduced a range of best practices in governance across 
both divisions and directorates which provide a level of standardisation 
whilst allowing flexibility to meet the requirements of specific areas. It is 
recognised that there is further leadership development required to 
ensure that the governance structure is consistently applied across the 
directorate structure.

C.3 Leadership development

The Trust takes a proactive approach to leadership development with a 
range of opportunities available to staff at all levels of the organisation. 

This includes support to embed the application of governance and 
leadership structures; a range of formal qualifications and a number of 
broader clinical development initiatives. However, there is scope for 
improving the succession planning for senior clinical leadership roles at 
the Divisional and Directorate levels.

Recommendations

A summary of our recommendations can be found on page 41. The 
priority recommendations are outlined below:

• The Board should reflect on the respective roles of EDs and NEDs and 
consider whether the current balance between support and challenge 
is optimal.

• The CEO should further reflect on his personal style and in particular 
the potential impact his strength of character and impulsive and 
honest style may have on internal and external stakeholders.

• The Chair and NHSI should consider the need to appoint two new 
NEDs over the next 6-9 months to help bring a refreshed perspective 
to the Board. The skill set of new appointees should reflect the 
challenges the Trust faces over the next few years, particularly skills 
in partnership working as it moves towards the ACO.

• The Trust should consider the appointment of a Deputy Medical 
Director.

• The Trust should consider a more formal approach to the Medical 
Directors role in relation to the performance management of senior 
clinicians and ensure regular medical representation in performance 
review meetings and Board and Committee meetings. 

• The Trust and NHSI should consider a succession plan to manage the 
transition in Chairmanship over the medium term.

• The Trust should ensure that there are more clearly defined 
succession plans in place to manage the transition in key ED posts 
over the medium to long term.

• The Board should reflect on the Trust’s approach to partnership 
working in situations where developments are not necessarily fully 
aligned with the Trust agenda.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 15



8

Project Scope

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 16



9

Project Scope
Context

This Governance and Leadership review at The Royal Wolverhampton 
NHS Trust was commissioned by NHS Improvement (NHSI). NHSI 
commissioned this review in the light of governance concerns raised by a 
previous review examining the Trust’s handling of concerns raised by an 
employee. The review was conducted in 2014 and the report was 
published in May 2016. This report has been commissioned to conduct a 
review of current governance and leadership arrangements at the Trust 
and is not intended to investigate any specific concerns raised by the 
previous review or by former Board members or employees of the Trust. 
We have however been asked by NHSI to interview two former Board 
members and a former employee of the Trust to provide us with context. 

The Terms of Reference for our review are as follows:

• to assess current approaches to governance including identifying any 
areas of good or poor practice;

• to assess the culture and attitude towards governance demonstrated 
by the Trust Board;

• to assess Board-level capability and capacity to provide appropriate 
leadership of good governance throughout the Trust;

• to identify actions that should be taken by the Trust to ensure a 
strong management culture with a positive approach to good 
governance;

• to identify action that should be taken by NHSI to ensure a strong 
management culture at the Trust with a positive approach to good 
governance; and

• to identify any areas of support required by RWT to ensure a strong 
management culture with a positive approach to good governance.

In line with NHSI policy to incorporate a greater Peer Review component 
to governance reviews, we have received expert advice from two Peer 
Reviewers during the course of this review. The Peer Reviewers were: 
Robert Armstrong, Chairman of Wrightington, Wigan and Leigh NHS 
Foundation Trust; and Jan Sobieraj, Chief Executive of United 
Lincolnshire Hospitals NHS Trust.

Our approach

Our work was conducted between June and September 2016 and our 
approach was based on the methodology for conducting a Governance 
and Leadership Review set out in our Contract with NHSI dated 30 June 
2016. Our approach to delivering the project scope against this 
methodology has consisted of: 

1. Conducting a desktop review of a sample of key Trust documentation 
including Board minutes, committee minutes, Board and committee 
reports, Terms of Reference and policies.

2. Conducting non-attributable interviews with all Board members, 
including Executive and NEDs, during August and September 2016.

3. Conducting follow-up, non-attributable interviews with key Board 
members, including: the Chairman, the CEO, the Chief Nurse and the 
COO.

4. Conducting non-attributable, peer-to-peer interviews as follows: 
interviews between our Chair Peer, the RWT Chairman and the Chair 
of the RWT Audit Committee; and, between our CEO Peer, the RWT 
CEO and the RWT Director of Strategic Planning and Performance.

5. To understand the context of previous concerns surrounding the 
Trust, we conducted non-attributable interviews with: Richard Harris 
(former Trust Chairman); David Ritchie (former Trust NED); and 
Professor David Ferry (former Trust clinician).

6. Undertaking two observations of the Trust Board on 25 July 2016 and 
26 September 2016. The September 2016 meeting was also observed 
by our Chair Peer.

7. Undertaking the following additional observations: Finance & 
Performance Committee on 7 September 2016 and 21 September 
2016; Quality Governance Assurance Committee on 21 July 2016; the 
Trust Management Committee on 23 September 2016; the Quality 
Standards Action Group on 26 August 2016; and the Patient Safety 
Improvement Group on 19 August 2016. The Trust Management 
Committee was also observed by our CEO Peer.

8. Conducting non-attributable interviews with the two of the Divisional 
Leadership teams, along with the Leadership teams from two 
directorates (one from each division).

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 17



10

Project Scope (continued)
.

Our approach (continued)

9. Conducting three staff focus groups, split between: non-clinical staff; 
senior clinical staff (those of band 7 and above); and junior clinical 
staff (those band 6 and below). A total of approximately 50 staff 
attended the three focus groups, including six consultants.

10.Conducting a Board survey, which all Board members completed, and 
a staff survey which 408 members of staff responded to (204 clinical 
staff and 194 non-clinical staff).

11.Conducting 30 minute telephone interviews with the following 
external stakeholders: 

− Donald McIntosh (Chief Officer, HealthWatch Wolverhampton);

− Andrew Donald (Accountable Officer, South East Staffordshire and 
Seisdon Peninsula CCG);

− Claire Skidmore (Chief Finance and Operating Officer, 
Wolverhampton CCG);

− Andy Williams (Accountable Officer, Sandwell and West Birmingham 
CCG);

− Jan Sensier (CEO, HealthWatch Staffordshire); and

− Rob Marris (Member of Parliament, Wolverhampton South West).

Observations and recommendations

Our findings in this Final Report are based upon the views expressed by 
Board members, staff across the Trust and our own observations. We 
have assumed that the information provided to us and management's 
representations are complete, accurate and reliable; we have not 
independently audited, verified or confirmed their accuracy, 
completeness or reliability.  In particular, no detailed testing regarding 
the accuracy of any financial information has been performed.

Our work, which is summarised in this Final Report, has been limited to 
matters that we have identified at the date of this report as being 
significant within the context of the scope. In particular, this review did 
not identify all of the gaps that may exist in relation to the Trust’s 
approach to governance.

Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 18



11

Glossary

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 19



12

Glossary

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016

Glossary of terms used throughout this report

A&E = Accident & Emergency

ACO = Accountable Care Organisation

AD         =          Associate Director

BAF = Board Assurance Framework

BM = Board member

Board = The Board of The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

CCG = Clinical Commissioning Group

CD = Clinical Director

CEO = Chief Executive Officer 

CFO      =          Chief Finance Officer

CIP = Cost Improvement Programme

CN = Chief Nurse

COO =  Chief Operating Officer

CQC = Care Quality Commission

DAA = Divisional Accountability Agreement

DCOO = Deputy Chief Operating Officer

DMD = Divisional Medical Director

ED = Executive Director

F&P = Finance and Performance Committee

HR = Human Resources

I&E = Income & Expenditure

IA = Internal Audit

IQPR = Integrated Quality and Performance Report

KPI = Key Performance Indicators

MD = Medical Director

MSFT = Mid-Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust

NED = Non-Executive Director

NHS = National Health Service

NHSI = NHS Improvement

PSIG = Patient Safety Improvement Group

QGC = Quality Governance Committee

QGAC = Quality Governance Assurance Committee

QIA = Quality Impact Assessment

QSAG = Quality Standards Action Group

RAG = Red, Amber, Green

RMS = Risk Management Strategy

RWT = The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

STP       =          Sustainability and Transformation Plans

TMC = Trust Management Committee

ToR = Terms of Reference

Trust =  The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

TRR = Trust Risk Register

UHCW   =         University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire NHS FT

WHO = World Health Organisation

FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 20



13

Observations and 
Commentary

A. Board Capacity and Capability

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016
FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 21



14

Board Capacity and Capability
The leadership at the Trust is characterised by a significant number of 
long-standing appointments, including: the CEO (appointed 2004), Chief 
Nurse, Deputy Chief Executive & Lead Executive for Safeguarding 
(appointed 2005), CFO (appointed 2009), Medical Director (appointed 
2011), and COO (appointed 2012). The remaining directors represent 
more recent and medium-term appointments, including the Director of 
Integration (appointed 2014), the Director of Strategic Planning and 
Performance (appointed January 2016) and the Director of Human 
Resources (interim appointment). We also note continuity on the NED side 
of the Board, with a well-established cohort of NEDs that bring a range of 
experience and strong links to the Wolverhampton community. This 
includes the Trust Chair, who has been in post as a NED since April 2006 
and was appointed Chairman in September 2014. Across the wider NED 
cohort, four of the seven appointments were made between October 2012 
and April 2014, with a further long-standing appointment from April 2010 
and more recent appointments in May 2015 and April 2016. 

A.1 Executive Director Leadership

A.1.1 Executive team capability and cohesion

The executive team at the Trust enjoys high levels of stability and is an 
experienced, cohesive and ambitious team. These characteristics, as well 
as an entrepreneurial culture, have aided the achievement of consistently 
good performance levels, in terms of quality, operations, finance and 
strategic developments.

The ED group is a highly experienced team with five of the seven 
substantive EDs having at least eleven years experience in NHS executive 
level roles. Five of the seven substantive EDs have worked together as a 
team since 2012, with some of the working relationships at the Trust 
going back as far as 2005.  The more-recent executive appointments, 
namely the Director of Strategic Planning and Performance and the 
Director of Integration, have both assimilated well into the organisation, 
with wide recognition from Board members that they have quickly 
integrated with other EDs.

It is evident from our individual interviews, staff focus groups and 
observations of the Board and Committees that there is a positive team 
dynamic and high levels of consistency and continuity in the executive 
team.  EDs comes across as being ambitious, cohesive, present a single 
message and appear to take joint accountability for decisions taken. There 

is a supportive culture within the team as well as a strong sense of loyalty 
(see A3.3.1). EDs described the team dynamic as supportive, but 
appropriately challenging, with reference made to an ‘open-door’ policy 
amongst EDs and senior managers. Interviewees commented on the 
frequent informal challenge and discussion that takes place amongst EDs.

Whilst it was acknowledged that styles vary across EDs, approaches were 
felt to be complementary and balanced across the group. From interviews 
and observations undertaken, we would concur with this assertion, noting 
a well-rounded mix of approaches across the executive team ranging from 
those who focused on the detailed process through to more strategic 
innovators.

Individual EDs are well-respected across the Trust. For example, during 
our interviews with staff, regular reference has been made to the strength 
of the CN and MD, both of whom are well-engaged with their respective 
professional groups. The level of engagement has helped to nurture a 
culture that, although very driven, is supportive and constructive. These 
findings are consistent with those identified by CQC in their 2015 report, 
where they found that clinical leaders were aware of issues across the 
Trust and that they were held in high-regard by staff across the 
organisation. EDs also demonstrated strength in relation to operational 
and financial leadership, with the COO and CFO both being well 
established at the Trust and working in an integrated manner with other 
EDs and divisional leadership teams. In addition, CQC noted a number of 
areas of good practice in relation to ED engagement across the 
organisation. Notable within this feedback is an example relating to the 
interim Director of HR, who made reference to shadowing consultants to 
better understand their role and needs, noting that this received a good 
response from staff. We have also received positive feedback and support 
for the CEO which we discuss separately in A1.2 below.

The collaborative and cohesive way in which the executive team functions, 
as well as an innovative culture, has aided the achievement of consistently 
good performance levels, in terms of quality, operations, finance and 
strategic developments. Notable and recent examples of good 
performance include: the Trust’s approach to the dissolution of Mid 
Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust (MSFT) and the subsequent 
reallocation of services between this Trust and University Hospitals of 
North Midlands NHS Trust; the recent developments undertaken towards 
Vertical Integration, which have been driven by Trust leadership; and 
playing a central role within the region’s STP process.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 22



15

Board Capacity and Capability
Central to the Trust’s short and long-term objectives and success is the 
focus on patient and staff welfare. This has been a key driver behind the 
examples of good performance noted above and has been referenced 
throughout our review activities. We spoke to a wide range of staff 
across the organisation and across varying levels of seniority. Patient 
focus and staff welfare were common themes in our discussions and 
focus groups, with staff clear that the Trust’s executive team led by 
example in this regard and that patient and staff focus at RWT is 
embedded throughout the organisation. 

The example set by the Trust’s leadership has led to a strong sense of 
loyalty from staff and a positive culture throughout the organisation. 
Multiple references were made to staff who have left the Trust and 
subsequently returned due to its positive culture. These findings are 
consistent with the 2015 NHS Staff Survey results, with the Trust scoring 
3.87 (above average) in relation to staff recommending the organisation 
as a place to work or receive treatment. This represents an improvement 
from 2014 and, also, a score well-above the national average of 3.71.

Finally, although the most recent CQC report rated the Trust overall as 
‘Requires Improvement’, we note a number of positive findings 
throughout the document. Of particular relevance here is the feedback in 
relation to Trust leadership, which is consistently strong although the 
Trust was rated as ‘Requires Improvement’ against the Well-led domain. 
The CQC found the leadership team to be open and approachable to 
staff, with a good awareness of issues across the Trust. 

A.1.2 CEO Leadership

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is a strong character with an impulsive 
and honest style that has attracted attention and negative publicity from 
time to time. However, feedback gathered during this review consistently 
points towards a CEO that furnishes a supportive and innovative culture 
amongst Board members and staff. Equally, he demonstrates a clear 
patient and staff focus, which has resulted in strong loyalty towards him 
throughout the organisation. The CEO has assembled a team around him 
which complements and balances his personal style. However, there is 
undoubtedly scope for the CEO to give further reflection to the impact 
his personal style can occasionally have on those around him.

The Trust CEO is one of the most experienced Chief Executives in the 
NHS with a total of 28 years as a NHS Chief Executive. He was appointed 
to the post at the Trust in 2004 and was Chief Executive of the 
University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust (UHCW) for 
14 years prior to this. The CEO is well known locally, regionally and 
nationally and brings a significant network of support for the Trust. 

The CEO is described by many interviewees as a ‘strong’ character and 
has attracted controversy, as well as significant media interest at various 
points in his career which has driven some negative sentiment 
externally. This has included sensitive cases with employees such as a 
recent whistleblowing case with the Trust’s Head of Clinical Coding and 
grievances raised by former consultants at both RWT and UHCW. The 
whistleblowing case resulted in an independent review into the 
circumstances which was conducted in 2014 and published in 2016. We 
have also been made aware of issues raised by former Board members 
of the Trust in relation to the conduct of the CEO.  These high-profile 
issues have created a considerable amount of external interest around 
the Chief Executive and the Trust more generally. Whilst this review does 
not investigate the specificities of these issues, they have provided 
context for the commissioning of this review by NHS Improvement. 
However, throughout our interviews with Board members, we noted a 
wide range of positive feedback about the CEO and it is clear that he is 
well-respected by colleagues. Key strengths to which interviewees 
referred, include: the CEO’s commercial astuteness; a clear 
entrepreneurial approach to leadership; and an excellent network with 
strong links across the regional and national systems. A number of those 
interviewed made reference to the CEO’s clear focus on patients and 
quality, with this acting as a central driver in any developments being 
progressed by the Trust. Reference was made to the supportive and 
engaging approach of the CEO, both from EDs and NEDs alike. 

The Board level feedback we received on the CEO is replicated across the 
organisation, with wide-ranging support expressed through our 
interviews and staff focus groups. Regular reference was made to the 
CEO’s focus on staff and patients, with the expectation of a similar focus 
and associated behaviours from colleagues throughout the Trust. It was 
clear that the CEO is not afraid to challenge those who are seen to be 
acting out of alignment with these values and behaviours. For the most 
part, this has engendered a strong sense of loyalty towards the CEO and 
good clinical engagement across the organisation. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 23



16

Board Capacity and Capability
During interviews, reference was also made to positive feedback from 
CQC’s latest inspection at the organisation. Though the organisation 
received ‘Requires Improvement’ against the Well-led domain, the report 
includes a range of positive feedback in relation to the Trust leadership. In 
particular, the report summarised that ‘they felt they [the leadership 
team] were approachable, especially the CEO’. These findings, from the 
report of November 2015, have been echoed by feedback from our 
interviews across the organisation. 

Our interviews with external stakeholders pointed to the CEO being the 
figurehead for the organisation and being the instigator for many of the 
initiatives progressed at the Trust and at the regional level, such as 
Vertical Integration. 

Though our feedback on the CEO is largely positive, interviews with 
internal and external stakeholders and observations during our review also 
point towards a number of challenging areas. Given the CEO’s direct style, 
we acknowledge that this can cause tension with those whose behaviours, 
approach or decisions are being challenged.  A number of interviewees 
made reference to a sense that the CEO requires managing and steering 
from the broader executive team, in order to ensure that there is robust 
process and governance around his initiatives and ideas. Interviewees 
commented that the CEO has an instinctive and impulsive style of 
leadership and that, although this may be successful in the majority of 
cases, there is a reliance on the wider leadership team to ‘put on the 
brakes’ when required and to ensure that there is an appropriate risk 
framework in place around the CEO’s ideas.

Further to this, in some instances, Board members felt that this driven and 
instinctive approach can make it difficult to challenge the CEO’s direction 
of travel. During our interviews, reference was made to a need to fully 
prepare your case when challenging the CEO’s position. Should a case not 
be prepared sufficiently, it was understood that this could cause 
greater levels of challenge from the CEO and, on occasion, a ‘negative’ 
response. However, although this was raised by a number of Board 
member colleagues, it was caveated with the assertion that, should you 
have an appropriate case, the CEO will reflect on the matter and that he 
does not disregard opposing or conflicting views. 

During our interviews with the CEO, he acknowledged that his personal 

style is impulsive and recognises that this may cause tensions with certain 
stakeholders. However, in balance to these weaknesses, he describes a 
range of mitigating factors in place to harness his drive and impulsive 
approach. Central to this is the support network evident amongst the 
executive team, of which a key element is the support provided to the 
team by the CEO and vice versa. Both EDs and NEDs alike felt that the 
CEO has assembled a strong and complementary team around him, a 
team that understands the processes required and that covers any of his 
‘blind spots’. This supportive and balanced environment has nurtured 
development in the CEO’s approach, with EDs and NEDs commenting that 
any past behavioural challenges have tempered in recent years and that 
he is now much more self-aware and understands his areas of weakness. 

Despite these behavioural characteristics, our various activities have 
provided little current evidence of a damaging approach to governance or 
leadership from the CEO and, whilst there are certainly areas for 
development in terms of the CEO’s strong character and impulsive and 
honest approach, the current position, in our opinion, does not necessarily 
reflect the negative perceptions that have existed in the past. 

The feedback gathered during this review consistently points towards a 
CEO that furnishes a supportive and innovative culture amongst the 
executive team. Equally as important, he demonstrates a clear patient and 
staff focus, which has resulted in strong loyalty towards the CEO 
throughout the organisation. The CEO has assembled a team of Executives 
that complements and balances his approach. Board members are clear 
that any leadership ‘idiosyncrasies’ are manageable and that harnessing 
the CEO’s ability does not impinge on the wider functioning of the Trust.

We do recognise that a significant period of time has passed since the 
cases described above occurred and that the Board and the CEO have 
demonstrated improvement over this period. However, there is 
undoubtedly scope for the CEO to give further reflection to the impact his 
personal style can occasionally have on those around him.

R1: The CEO should further reflect on his personal style and in particular 
the potential impact his strength of character and impulsive and honest 
style may have on internal and external stakeholders.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 24



17

Board Capacity and Capability
A.1.3 The Executive triumvirate

The executive triumvirate (MD, CN and COO) have strong and supportive 
relationships and work well as a unit. However, there are inconsistencies 
in the management of the three portfolios that could potentially drive silo 
working practices and dilute the overall impact of the multi-disciplinary 
model.  We also note the need for greater medical coverage at various 
meetings, possibly aided through the appointment of a Deputy Medical 
Director.

A critical ingredient of a high performing executive team is a fully 
integrated triumvirate of the Medical Director, Chief Nurse and Chief 
Operating Officer. As noted in Section A.1.1 of this report, the current 
triumvirate post-holders are highly experienced executives, well 
established at the Trust and well-regarded across the organisation. As a 
triumvirate, our interviews and observations have highlighted strong and 
supportive relationships between the three, with each member 
acknowledging that they work well as a unit. We also understand that 
there is regular and ongoing discussion between the three, with healthy 
tensions between professional groups as may be expected. These tensions 
manifest themselves in a positive manner, with robust and open 
discussion at both formal and informal meetings between the three 
corporate triumvirate members. There is also a good understanding by 
each member of the key issues facing respective portfolios as well as the 
need to consider any interdependencies. 

However, we have observed certain inconsistencies across the 
management of the three portfolios that could potentially drive silo 
working practices and dilute the overall impact of the multi-disciplinary 
model.  Specifically, we observed inconsistencies in relation to 
performance management across the three portfolios. For example, we 
understand the Chief Nurse and Chief Operating Officer both take a more 
formal approach to the management of their professional groups, with 
regular formal meetings between each ED and their senior management 
team(s). However, the same approach is not replicated in medicine, where 
there are no formal meetings between the MD and senior medical staff, 
with any holding to account taking place on an ad hoc basis. 

We also note inconsistencies in attendance at quarterly divisional 
performance review meetings with regular attendance by the COO, ad hoc 
attendance by the Chief Nurse and limited attendance by the Medical 

Director to the extent that these review meetings have become too 
operationally focused.

We also observed a Board meeting and a Quality Committee meeting 
where the Medical Director was absent. Whilst the Medical Director had 
good reason for not being at the meetings, there was no other senior 
representation to cover the medical agenda. This issue is impacted by the 
fact that the Medical Director, unusually in our experience, does not have 
any Deputy Medical Directors.

It has been noted during our interviews that capacity constraints on the 
Medical Director’s portfolio may have an influence on the above issues to 
the extent that the Medical Director may benefit from the formal 
appointment of a Deputy Medical Director.

R2: The Trust should consider a more formal approach to the Medical 
Director’s role in relation to the performance management of senior 
clinicians and ensure regular medical representation in performance 
review meetings and Board and Committee meetings. 

R3: The Trust should consider the appointment of a Deputy Medical 
Director.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 25



18

Board Capacity and Capability
A.2 Non-Executive Director leadership

A.2.1 Non-Executive Director contribution

The NED cohort is well established and includes a range 
of skills and mix of styles. Individuals have demonstrated a good 
understanding of Trust activities; actively engage with EDs and staff; and 
take their roles seriously. 

As noted above, the current NED cohort is well established and includes 
a number of long-standing members. The Non-Executives bring a range 
of senior management experience from a variety of sectors, including: 
clinical experience at RWT; NHS Management and Finance; regulation; 
health and safety; professional services and consultancy; accountancy 
and finance; and the voluntary and not-for-profit sector.

Individually, the NEDs came across well throughout our review with each 
individual demonstrating a good understanding of Trust activities. There 
is a good mix of styles, ranging from the more-detailed and analytical to 
those who bring a wider, strategic and community-focussed approach. 
Each member presents a strong skill-set in their respective area and 
provided insightful feedback regarding the governance arrangements and 
leadership at the Trust. Our interviews also found the NEDs to be 
proactive in driving Board initiatives. For example, we heard that one 
NED took the lead on re-designing the Trust’s finance report.

These individual skill-sets translate well to group working, with NEDs and 
EDs alike reflecting on a joined-up approach. Key to this approach is the 
cohesion of the group outside formal Board and Committee meetings. 
For example, the NEDs hold fortnightly meetings as a group, at which 
they are able to informally discuss key Trust issues. This includes an 
informal pre-meeting before each Board session, which is used to 
identify notable areas they wish to challenge and to agree a unified 
approach to the session. 

NEDs have also proactively sought to seek assurance beyond Board and 
Committee meetings. By way of example, we note that NEDs play a role 
in the monitoring of safeguarding at the Trust. Furthermore, NEDs ‘walk 
the wards’ with two annual visits per NED to departments and that they 
are also involved in the CQC-style Quality Review Visits. 

Feedback from Executives and Non-Executives was positive on these 
matters, with many reflecting that the NEDs are good at driving 
improvements and that their approach has helped create a unified, 
factionless Board.

A.2.2 Board interaction and scrutiny from Non-Executives

The Board operates in a unitary manner and compares well with many 
organisations we work with. However, challenge from NEDs to EDs needs 
to be strengthened in our opinion and the Board would benefit from 
making new NED appointments to help bring more balance to the 
challenge and support dynamic at Board-level.

The cohesiveness of both the ED and NED groups, as well as the positive 
working relationship between the Chair and the CEO as discussed below, 
have a positive impact on the overall dynamics of the Board. We 
observed a unitary Board where all members work together in a 
collaborative, supportive and respectful environment. We did not observe 
any signs of factions on the Board and there was significant consistency 
during our Board member interviews. We also observed a friendly and 
constructive environment in meetings where Board members engaged in 
numerous discussions and there were some examples of NEDs asking 
probing questions across a number of topics. There were also a number 
of examples of EDs challenging each other during Board and Committee 
meetings.

It has been recognised by a number of Board members interviewed that 
Board unity has improved significantly over the last 2-3 years under the 
leadership of the Trust Chair to the extent that there is a strong level of 
trust, cohesion and unity throughout the Board. It is also acknowledged 
by a number of Board member interviews that the external challenges 
the Trust Board have faced together has had a positive impact on 
strengthening the bond as a Board. Overall, the level of unity compares 
favourably with many other organisations we work with.

However, whilst we have observed a number of examples of NED 
challenge during our review, our view is that scrutiny from some NEDs is 
measured and there is potential for more incisive initial and follow-up 
questioning when holding EDs to account. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 26



19

Board Capacity and Capability
We noticed this issue in Board and Committee meetings observed, where 
there was scope for more inquisitive questioning in both public and private 
meetings. It was also apparent to us during individual interviews with 
NEDs where we felt there was scope for more balance between presenting 
the strengths as well as the development areas for the Board and the 
Trust.

In our view, the NED group would benefit from stepping back and 
refreshing the ‘lines’ between Non-Executive and Executive roles. As noted 
above, our interviews found that NEDs were appropriately inquisitive, but 
we believe that this does not always translate into insightful and value-
adding challenge which maximises the effectiveness of the Board.

We understand that some NED terms are due to end during the coming 
year and believe that the NED group would benefit from the appointment 
of at least two new NEDs who could bring a fresh perspective to the Board 
and organisation.

R4: The Board should reflect on the respective roles of EDs and NEDs and 
consider whether the current balance between support and challenge is 
optimal.

R5: The Chair and NHSI should consider the need to appoint two new 
NEDs over the next 6-9 months to help bring a refreshed perspective to 
the Board. The skill set of new appointees should reflect the challenges the 
Trust faces over the next few years, particularly skills in partnership 
working as it moves towards the ACO.

A.2.3 Non-Executive Director visibility sub-Board

NEDs have a good understanding of the Trust agenda and are active 
outside of the Board room. However, there is scope for greater exposure to 
the divisional and directorate level through additional activities such as 
increased representation of divisions at Board level and potentially a NED 
buddying arrangement with divisions or directorates.

Whilst NEDs have a good understanding of the Trust agenda and are active 
outside of the Board room, including exposure to the wider organisation, 
our review indicated that Non-Executives do not have sufficiently high 
exposure to activities at the divisional and directorate level. This point has 
been acknowledged by some NEDs. 

We are of the view that Board reporting does include significant levels of 
granular detail which allow NEDs to have an overview of performance 
meetings but they may benefit from more direct contact with the senior 
leaders at the divisional and directorate level. For example, our 
observation of the Board and Board Committees noted that divisional and 
directorate participation in these sessions is minimal and that, as such, 
there is less opportunity for direct NED interaction with the respective 
leadership teams. There are pockets of good practice in this area, such as 
the NED and divisional leadership attendance at PSIG and QSAG. However, 
this is not replicated consistently across the organisation and, in our view, 
NEDs would benefit from further exposure in this regard. Based on our 
experience of working with many other similar organisations, divisional 
leadership teams invariably value periodic direct contact with the Board 
and it can be a powerful tool in enhancing engagement and accountability 
at the divisional level. In this regard, we do note that the NEDs have 
recently re-introduced bi-annual, informal sessions with the divisional 
leadership teams.

R6: The Board should consider further mechanisms for enhancing Non-
Executive visibility over activities at the divisional and directorate level, for 
example activities such as greater divisional representation at Board level 
or buddying arrangements with divisions or directorates.

A.3 Board leadership

A.3.1 Trust Chair and CEO dynamic

The Chair and CEO have very different styles but they are generally viewed 
by stakeholders as being complementary and forming the basis of a strong 
relationship. The Chair has also played a key role in unifying the Board 
over the last 3 years and is well respected amongst fellow Board members 
and external stakeholders. However, there is scope for greater challenge 
from the Chair to the CEO, similar to the supporting and challenging point 
discussed in A2.2.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 27



20

Board Capacity and Capability
An important factor in a high-performing Board is an effective Chair/CEO 
relationship. There is universal acknowledgement by Board members 
that the Chair and CEO at the Trust have very different styles, with the 
Chair adopting a milder and less direct approach. However, there is also 
a consistent view from internal and external stakeholders that, although 
they have contrasting styles, the differences are complementary and 
form the basis of a strong working relationship. 

We have observed challenge from Chair to CEO during our review, 
although the challenge is presented in a subtle and low key manner. A 
number of interviewees reflected that this approach provides a good foil 
for the CEO, with particular praise for the way in which the Chair is able 
to ensure that the CEO stops to reflect on matters and the due process 
required to progress them. It is clear the Chair is not afraid to offer 
challenge or express his views and interviewees were clear that the 
current Chair is the right fit for the Trust and the CEO. There is an 
understanding of the role of the Chair and we recognise that there have 
been no instances where he has strayed into the operation of the Trust.

NEDs also commented positively on the Chair’s interaction with the wider 
cohort. We noted praise for this thorough approach to due process, with 
reference made to the way the Chair regularly shares information with 
the NEDs and the regular informal sessions that are held in advance of 
Board sessions. This approach enables collaborative working from the 
NEDs, ensuring that they act as a cohesive unit and present a unified 
approach at Board and Committee sessions. 

A.3.2 Succession Planning

The Trust has taken a proactive approach to ED succession planning 
although there is a lack of candidates for some key roles. Given the level 
of NED challenge issues discussed in A.2.2 and A.3.1 above, we believe 
that plans should be made to facilitate the succession planning and 
refresh of the Non-Executive group over the next 6-9 months with two 
new appointments. The Trust should also consider a medium term 
succession plan for the Chair given his time with the Trust at over 10 
years (8 years as NED, 2 years as Chair) is at the upper end of the 
tenure range.

As noted above, the Board is characterised by a number of long-standing 
members throughout both the Executive and Non-Executive teams. This 

has provided stability within the group, which we recognise, though it is 
important to also recognise that a number of core Executive and Non-
Executive BMs are either approaching retirement or coming to the end of 
their terms. 

The Trust’s leadership team has acknowledged this risk and has drawn 
up initial succession plans for Executive roles, which were most recently 
refreshed in November 2015. However, it has been recognised by Board 
members throughout our interviews that there will be challenges in filling 
some key positions. For example, many commented that there is a 
possible lack of suitably qualified candidates for key roles, such as CEO, 
Chief Nurse, HR Director and CFO. 

Such gaps leave the organisation exposed should departures occur in 
one or more of these core leadership positions. Given the importance of 
stability and team-fit at the Trust as discussed in A1.2, it is important 
that the Trust quickly addresses these potential executive succession 
plan gaps.  

With regards to the Non-Executive team, we note that a number of 
terms are due to come to an end during 2017, although some members 
are eligible to remain in post for another term. We also note that the 
Chair’s two year tenure was due to end in September 2016, but that this 
has recently been extended by NHSI for a period of six months. 

As discussed above, we believe there is scope for a refreshed approach 
to the Non-Executive group. The upcoming end in tenure for certain 
posts presents a timely opportunity for the Board to review NED 
membership, to determine whether certain new or replacement 
appointments could be made to ensure that the cohort’s skill mix and 
approach to scrutiny are appropriately balanced. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 28



21

Board Capacity and Capability
We are of the view that the Chair is well placed to lead the Board through 
the short-medium term but that the Board and the Trust may benefit from 
a fresh perspective over the medium-longer term, given the Chair has now 
been in post for over 10 years which is at the upper end of the tenure 
range in our experience. With this in mind, the Board should consider a 
succession plan to manage the transition towards a change in leadership 
over the medium term. This plan should align with the Trust’s aspirations 
to create an ACO.

See R5 above

R7: The Trust and NHSI should consider a succession plan to manage the 
transition in Chairmanship over the medium term.

R8: The Trust should ensure that there are more clearly defined succession 
plans in place to manage the transition in key ED posts over the medium to 
long term.

A.3.3 Stakeholder Engagement

EDs generally enjoy high profile and visibility both internally and externally.  
The efforts of the Chair in forging external partnerships have also featured 
prominently throughout our review.  However, there is a view amongst 
some external stakeholders that the Trust could at times be perceived to 
withdraw from developments if the direction of travel is not fully aligned 
with the Trust agenda.

A.3.3.1 Internal Engagement

The executive team were generally reported to have good levels of visibility 
throughout the Trust with various initiatives mentioned such as the ED 
drop in sessions. The results of our staff survey reflect positively on 
awareness of Executives across the organisation, with good awareness of 
Board members having visited service and patient areas. However, on the 
other hand, visibility within non-clinical areas of the Trust could be 
improved, with less positive results in this area.

The visibility of the Chief Nurse, the COO and the Medical Director was 
described as particularly high, with all well-known to their respective 
professional colleagues.  We received positive feedback from a range of 
interviewees regarding the level of engagement garnered by the Medical 
Director. This was described as a real strength, with the MD well-respected 
throughout the Trust and particularly by senior medical staff.

In addition, the CEO is highly visible throughout the organisation. Whilst 
this interaction will naturally be higher amongst senior corporate and 
divisional management, our staff focus groups found the Chief Executive 
to be engaging and highly focussed on staff welfare at all levels. At the 
senior management level, all of those with whom we interacted reflected 
positively on their engagement with the Chief Executive, with common 
feedback with regards to his informal approach throughout the Trust. This 
level of informality is reflected through the executive team, with an open 
door policy adopted amongst all leaders and regular comments regarding 
informal discussions and briefings amongst the Executives. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 29



22

Board Capacity and Capability
At a junior level, examples were given of the CEO engaging staff in 
conversation during the journey to work and stopping to engage with new 
starters on how they are finding life at the Trust. Although these are 
anecdotal in nature, they highlight a common thread in our activities of a 
highly visible CEO at the head of the organisation. This level of visibility 
and engagement with staff has developed a strong sense of loyalty to the 
Trust and the Chief Executive, both of which were evident throughout our 
conversations with senior and junior staff members. He is very much a 
familiar face throughout the organisation and this level of engagement 
compares favourably against other organisations with which we have 
worked. 

There is a clear focus on staff welfare throughout the organisation, an 
approach that is embodied by the behaviours of senior leadership. This has 
resulted in a number of initiatives being implemented by the Trust, of 
which a notable recent example is the introduction of Schwarz Rounds to 
support staff with challenges linked to providing patient care. Initial 
feedback from these has been positive, with a feeling from staff and those 
running the rounds that these worked well. The focus on staff has recently 
been highlighted by the results of the latest GMC Trainee Survey, where 
RWT ranked tenth in the UK with the scoring for overall trainee 
satisfaction. Furthermore, the Trust ranked first in the UK for FY1 trainees 
regarding their clinical experience. 

Although not a problem unique to RWT, staff recruitment and retention 
concerns have been highlighted throughout our activities. Staff, at a senior 
and junior level, reflected cautiously on this matter and recognised that 
efforts were being made to address shortages across both medical and 
nursing rosters. For example, we do acknowledge that the Trust, along 
with other NHS organisations, has recently engaged in a recruitment 
campaign in the Philippines.

However, feedback from some staff expressed concern that, whilst this had 
resulted in some recruitment, this was proving slow to result in a growth in 
staff on the ground. It is clear that staffing issues represent a key area of 
concern for staff, though there was no indication that this had created any 
cultural issues within the organisation and, although pressured, staff are 
proud to work at the Trust. Linked to this, there were numerous references 
made to former employees returning to the Trust as they view it as a 
better place at which to work. This is supported by the recent ‘Chat Back’ 
survey, with an 86% positive score in response to the statement ‘I am 
proud to tell people that I work for The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust.’

The Trust’s CQC report also reflected positively on the level of internal 
engagement. The report referenced an open and fair culture, with clear 
lines of responsibility and accountability. Staff commented to the CQC that 
they had good access to the leadership team and, in particular, to the CEO. 
Furthermore, when staff did have access to Trust leadership, they found 
them to be approachable. These findings are consistent with comments 
received throughout our review, with further corroboration evidenced 
through our staff survey, the Trust’s internal ‘Chat Back’ survey and the 
most recent NHS Staff Survey. Notably, within the NHS Staff Survey, 
overall staff engagement at the Trust scored above the average for similar 
Trusts. 

With regards to the NEDs, we acknowledge that their visibility is affected 
by contractual time constraints. Consequently, their wider organisational 
visibility has been limited to formal walk arounds. These constraints are 
evident in the results of our staff survey, where we note mixed feedback in 
relation to staff knowledge of NEDs and an indication that NED visibility 
across the Trust is, perhaps, inconsistent. Whilst we recognise the 
constraints, there may be scope for NEDs prioritising their time within the 
current parameters. For example, using some of the time set aside for 
fortnightly NED meetings to help enhance profile. 

Whilst this represents an area for development, there are elements of 
recent good practice. For example, we understand that the NED cohort has 
recently re-introduced bi-annual, informal sessions with the divisional 
leadership teams. Feedback from the divisional leaders suggests this 
initiative is positively received. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 30



23

Board Capacity and Capability
A.3.3.2 External Engagement

During the course of our review, we spoke with a range of external 
stakeholders, including: CCGs; local Health Watch representatives; and a 
local Member of Parliament. The feedback from these discussions are, in 
general, positive with regards to the level of external engagement 
displayed by the Trust and its leadership team.

External stakeholders were clear that the Trust is a strong performer 
that acts confidently and assertively within the Black Country and West 
Midlands systems. In particular, stakeholders referenced a strong group 
of EDs at the Trust and that they were driving forward initiatives in the 
region. Of particular note, was the feedback in relation to the Trust’s 
willingness to engage and take decisive action on complex issues. The 
notable example here relates to the Trust’s response to the dissolution of 
Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust. A number of external 
stakeholders referenced RWT’s swift action in the transfer of services at 
Cannock Chase Hospital over to RWT. Particular praise was reserved for 
the way in which the CEO engaged with MSFT staff during this period, 
with early and positive engagement easing uncertainty for this group.

Further to the above, stakeholders commented positively on the Trust’s 
involvement with the STP process, with the Trust found to be taking the 
lead on a number of initiatives in this field. Similar to this process, there 
was praise for the Trust’s approach to new models of care and, 
specifically, to the development of the Vertical Integration / Accountable 
Care Organisation approach in Wolverhampton. 

External stakeholders also reflected favourably on the role and approach 
of the Chair at the Trust, with those who had interacted with him finding 
his approach to be measured and calm. This presents a contrasting 
approach to that of the CEO, as we have noted in Section A1.2, but 
external stakeholders believed that provided an appropriate level of 
balance and that the Chair and CEO work well in partnership. The Chair’s 
external visibility also received positive feedback from a number of 
stakeholders, with particular reference made to the Chair’s strong links 
throughout the local community. 

The CEO’s tenure in post was acknowledged and stakeholders recognise 
him as a highly-driven and ambitious leader who has a strong reputation 
at both a regional and national level. However, at times, stakeholders 

felt that the combination of this drive and a frank approach could lead to 
challenging behaviours, consistent with those described in section A1.2 
above.

There was a perception amongst a number of stakeholders that the Trust 
drive can at times be solely focussed on the RWT agenda. Certain 
stakeholders reflected that, when system-wide initiatives align with the 
aims of the Trust, they are wholly engaged and will often lead the 
particular process ahead of their peers. Examples included here include 
the Trust’s involvement in STP planning and the complexities 
surrounding MSFT. However, should the direction of travel not be fully-
aligned with that of RWT, there was a perception that they can slightly 
withdraw from developments in order to follow their own aims. Whilst 
stakeholders were clear that this has never been complete 
disengagement by the Trust, there is a belief that the Trust very much 
engages on its own terms. 

R9: The Board should reflect on the Trust’s approach to partnership 
working in situations where developments are not necessarily fully 
aligned with the Trust agenda.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 31



24

Board Capacity and Capability
A.3.4 Board Development

The Trust has a comprehensive Board development programme covering 
a range of topics and the results of our staff survey strongly indicate that 
the Board spends sufficient time together informally.

There is a clear Board Development programme in place at the Trust, 
with sessions taking place on a monthly basis. Interviewees reflected 
positively on these sessions, finding them a useful tool for the Board to 
informally discuss the detail surrounding key strategic developments. 
This is supported by the results of the Board member survey, with the 
outcome demonstrating a clear consensus in relation to whether the 
Board spends sufficient time together informally. 

A review of the development programme notes a range of topics, with an 
appropriate split between Trust-specific matters and regional and 
national system issues. For example, specific consideration was given to: 
recruitment; the BAF; whistleblowing; raising concerns; and complaints. 
From a broader, system-wide perspective, the sessions have considered 
topics such as: STP planning; new models of care; and the Lord Carter 
Review. We note that not all sessions are internally facilitated, with a 
number of sessions provided by the Trust’s Internal Auditor and legal 
advisors. Furthermore, we note that these sessions have also included 
opportunity for directorate and divisional leaders to present to the Board 
on key areas within their remit. The approach to Board Development at 
the Trust is well-managed and compares favourably against other 
organisations we have worked with.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 32



25

Observations and 
Commentary

B. Board Governance

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 33



26

Board Governance
B.1 Board Committees

We have observed many areas of good practice in relation to the 
structure and operation of Board committees of the Trust and it 
compares favourably when benchmarked against other similar 
organisations. We have however highlighted a number of potential areas 
for refinement throughout our report for consideration.

During the course of our review we observed three key Board 
Committees: Finance and Performance Committee (F&P) on 7 September 
2016 and 21 September 2016; Quality Governance Assurance 
Committee (QGAC) on 21 September 2016; and the Trust Management 
Committee (TMC) on 23 September 2016. We also observed two sub-
groups of the QGAC, these being: Patient Safety Improvement Group 
(PSIG) on 26 August 2016; and Quality Standards Action Group (QSAG) 
on 2 September 2016. We have referenced our observations from these 
meetings throughout our report but also include a number of specific 
remarks below.

The Trust’s committee structure is generally in line with good practice 
and we note no notable gaps with key areas covered. In addition, a 
recent review of committee membership conducted by the Trust 
highlights that NED attendance is in line with or exceeds the minimum 
requirements established in the respective committee ToRs. Each 
committee is NED-chaired and there is common NED membership across 
a number of committees. For example, in line with good practice, the 
Chair of the Finance and Performance committee is also an attendee of 
the Audit Committee. There are also common links between finance, 
quality and audit and feedback on good communication between the 
committee Chairs. 

Furthermore, the NED-Chaired committees adopt a strong, assurance-
based approach. An approach that is complimented by the use of sub-
groups beneath each committee, which are in place to provide detailed 
review and scrutiny prior to items being received by the Board 
Committees. For example, the Trust has adopted this model below the 
QGAC, with the supporting, Executive-led PSIG and QSAG meetings 
taking place in advance of the Board’s quality committee. These sub-
groups allow for quality matters to receive a detailed examination and 
interrogation prior to reaching the QGAC, which subsequently enables 
the QGAC to take an assurance-based approach in their reporting to 
Board based on exception reporting from sub-group Chairs.

Representation of divisional leadership at Board committees received 
mixed feedback from both BMs and divisional leads. It is recognised that 
divisions do get an opportunity to present and report to committees. 
However, this representation largely focuses on one particular report or 
section of the wider committee. We received feedback from some NEDs 
that the committees and divisions may benefit from increased activities 
of this nature and greater exposure of divisional leaders to the broader 
committee sessions.

See R6 above.

B.1.1 Quality Governance Assurance Committee

Our observation of the Quality Governance Assurance Committee on 21 
September 2016 highlighted a number of positive aspects as outlined 
below:

• The meeting was well-Chaired by the NED and, despite a challenging 
agenda and some detailed discussion, ran close to the forecast time. 
The Chair steered debate well, with a good flow throughout the 
agenda. There was an appreciation of areas that required attention 
and the Chair encouraged a good level of discussion between those 
present on these notable matters; 

• The Executives present contributed well to the debate and, notably, 
contributed to debate across the various elements of the quality and 
performance portfolio. We noted some good inter-Executive 
interaction, with good understanding of issues across the organisation. 
As highlighted during our interviews, there is a strong corporate 
director approach at the Trust, with cross-portfolio awareness evident 
at this particular committee;

• The committee receives clear exception reporting from the quality 
sub-groups, PSIG and QSAG, in addition to full sub-group minutes. 
Notable matters are reported through the respective Chairman’s 
report, which represents an element of good practice; and

• Further to this, our review of prior meeting packs and minutes found 
consistent levels of discussion across the key Quality areas. In 
particular, we note minutes of detailed discussion in relation to the 
IQPR, the BAF and the TRR. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 34



27

Board Governance
However, we also noted certain areas for development, including: 

• Although there was a consistent level of NED challenge throughout the 
session, this was inconsistent in its approach. At times, the challenge 
was insightful and led to good discussion with the EDs present. In 
other instances, we noted quite detailed challenge into immaterial or 
tangential areas of the debate. The Chair sought to manage this and, 
in general, was able to do so. However, we feel there is scope for 
more insightful and targeted challenge into the key areas of risk;

• During our observation of the F&P Committee, we noted detailed 
discussion in relation to the Trust’s CIP schemes and achievement 
against these, with clear reporting in this regard. However, the Quality 
Committee includes little related discussion on Quality Impact 
Assessment and monitoring of CIPs from a quality perspective. Whilst 
we do acknowledge that QIA does take place for all schemes, we 
believe the committee would benefit from greater sight of 
developments in this area;

• The IQPR is a key document for the committee and the committee 
conducted a detailed review of recent performance. However, this was 
conducted as a run through the document on a page-by-page basis. 
We acknowledge that this included a range of important metrics, but 
feel that reporting and subsequent debate could be made more 
insightful by adopting an exception reporting approach; and

• The Medical Director was unable to attend the observed meeting and 
there was no deputy present at the meeting resulting in minimal 
medical representation. (see A.1.3).

B.1.1.1 Quality Committee sub-groups

As noted above, as part of our review activities, we also observed 
sessions of the sub-groups to the QGAC, these being: QSAG and PSIG. 
Our observations highlighted a number of areas of good practice, 
including: 

• The meetings were well-Chaired by the Chief Nurse and Medical 
Director respectively, with good time management to ensure 
appropriate flow and consideration throughout the agendas;

• The Quality Review Visit updated at QSAG was well-presented by the 
review lead (Clinical Nurse Specialist), with the report providing the 
committee with a good insight into the review process, subsequent 
findings and ratings awarded. Challenge around this presentation was 
good, being led by the CN and MD in particular; 

• The committees make use of an ‘Issues of Significance for Escalation’ 
section at the end of each session. We recognise this as an area of 
good practice, with this section providing an opportunity for the 
committee to summarise discussions from the session and identify 
those to be escalated through the Chair’s report to QGAC;

• Linked to the above, each group conducts an ‘Evaluation of the 
Meeting’ at the end of each session. Although brief, this represents an 
area of good practice and was used by the group to highlight elements 
that worked well and those that could be developed; and

• Each of the groups had good levels of attendance from the Divisional 
Leadership teams or their deputies. Both divisions made strong 
contributions to the debate, providing appropriate responses and 
clarification where required. 

However, across the two sub-groups, we also noted some areas for 
development, the most notable of which are: 

• A number of presentations to the sub-groups involved the presenter 
simply reading the information provided, with minimal insight into the 
context behind recent performance. The group would benefit from 
more insight and dynamic reporting, in order to draw out the material 
points for discussion as a collective; and

• There were certain instances where issues being reported by particular 
divisions have been common occurrences over recent years. For 
example, poor completion of the WHO Checklist by the Emergency 
Department; and poor performance on Resus equipment checks. 
There appeared to be a lack of accountability with regards to these 
matters, with sub-groups seemingly unable to drive this through 
monitoring or challenge against action plans in place. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 35



28

Board Governance
B.1.2 Finance & Performance Committee

We observed the Finance & Performance Committee meeting on 7 
September 2016 and 21 September 2016 and would highlight the 
following positive aspects:

• Management of the agenda by the Committee Chair was good, with 
effective time management and consistent discussion across key 
agenda items. The sessions ran to time, but this was not to the 
detriment of debate, with some detailed discussion into key areas;

• A number of papers presented were clear and included a range of a 
good analysis. For example:  the Supplementary Outturn report; and 
the recently-refreshed Trust Efficiency Programme Group Summary 
Report;

• There were some examples of good initial challenge during the 
session, with notable examples across the Supplementary Outturn 
Report and the CIP report. NEDs raised a number of pertinent 
questions throughout the session, with a good level of exchange 
between NED and ED attendees and reasonable contribution made by 
all members of the committee; and

• Responses from EDs were clear, concise and demonstrated a good 
level of transparency. The financial position of the Trust was 
acknowledged and well-reported, with clear appreciation for the 
underlying position and possible financial scenarios.

However, there were a certain matters observed at the committees 
which have an impact on its effectiveness, such as: 

• The Terms of Reference of the committee is to cover financial and 
external performance targets of the organisation. However, during the 
meetings observed, discussion was finance-centric. Though a paper is 
regularly presented in relation to national operational performance 
targets, this received minimal attention at the sessions observed and 
there was little challenge from the NEDs; and

• Whilst we acknowledge that challenge was forthcoming from the NED 
committee members, particularly from the Chair, we observed 
instances where the initial challenge was not then followed up in light 

of the respective Executive’s response. For example, scrutiny of the 
Financial Outturn report could have been taken to the next level.

B.1.3 Trust Management Committee (TMC)

We observed the Trust Management Committee on 23 September 2016 
and noted the following positive elements: 

• TMC is a well-attended meeting, with twenty four individuals present 
at our observed meeting, with all staying for the duration of the 
session. Furthermore, there was balance between clinical and 
corporate attendees, alongside good attendance from the divisional 
leadership teams;

• The meeting was well-Chaired by the CEO, with good pace throughout 
the heavy agenda, good summarisation of points and clear deference 
to the wider group where consensus/approval was required. 
Furthermore, the Chair demonstrated excellent knowledge across the 
operations of the Trust, often presenting a more detailed awareness of 
matters than others at the meeting. There was also a good 
atmosphere at the session with a light-hearted approach taken when 
probing points of detail; 

• The structure of the meeting assisted the quick pace and worked well, 
with the agenda structured around core updates from the various EDs.
Information was presented on an exception reporting basis, which 
aided progress through the agenda; and

• There was a regular reference made to patients and patient safety, 
particularly by the Chair. For example, in reference to the ACO 
initiative, the Chair commented that this presents ‘a chance to make a 
difference for the people we serve’.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 36



29

Board Governance
However, there were a certain matters observed at the committees 
which have an impact on its effectiveness, such as: 

• Any notable questions were raised by the CEO, with no notable 
instances of inter-Executive challenge or debate. Where points were 
raised, these were largely made to provide further detail in support of 
the initial updates given. As such, the meeting presented a sense of 
reporting-in to the CEO, rather than an opportunity for discussion of 
key matters amongst senior leaders. We perceived the session as a 
performance review opportunity for the CEO, with minimal 
consideration of agenda items by the group as a whole;

• Throughout the session, regular reference is made to items having 
been previously discussed, in detail, at prior sub-groups or 
committees across the Trust. As may be expected, there is a lot pre-
work and debate before arriving at TMC, meaning that this session 
acted as a rubber stamp for certain items. Our interviews and 
additional observations have confirmed that the detailed debate is 
taking place, though it is unclear whether all at the meeting will have 
been apprised of the details and decisions taken.  Linked to the above, 
this means that discussion at the TMC is minimal and this can lead to 
a perception that items are being ‘nodded through’ by the group, with 
no amendments or suggestions raised for any of the items received.

R10: The Board should consider the various observations made 
throughout section B.1 in relation to potential refinements to the 
operation of committees.

B.2 Board Reporting

The quality of Board reporting is mixed, with some elements of good 
practice and some areas that would benefit from improvement. High-
level feedback from interviews suggests that Board papers as a whole 
are onerous, with a variety of lengthy reports received on a regular 
basis. Furthermore, interviewees reflected that the reporting of certain 
items to various forums leads to a degree of duplication, with the reports 
reviewed and discussed numerous times prior to reaching the Board.

We have conducted a review of the key documentation presented to 
Board and Committee meetings. The overall objective is to assess the 
suitability of the tools furnished to the Board to conduct its business. We 

outline below our views on areas of best practice and some potential 
areas for refinement with regards to financial, quality and operational 
performance reporting. 

Across all aspects of performance, we received consistent feedback 
regarding the high level of reporting required across the organisation. 
Interviewees at Board, Divisional and Directorate level Trust reflected 
the reporting requirements at the Trust can be onerous, with multiple 
reports requiring the attention of the respective leadership teams. The 
heavy reporting requirements impact on leadership time and, also, lead 
to heavy reporting packs for the various sub-group, committee and 
Board sessions. 

Furthermore, we received feedback that a significant number of these 
reports are required to be reported, in slightly different formats, at 
various sub-groups and committees. This leads to a sense of duplication, 
particularly for divisional leadership teams. By way of example, the 
duplicative reporting can mean that divisional leaders have reported 
performance a number of times prior to their quarterly Divisional 
Accountability Agreement (DAA) meeting. This renders the discussion at 
these quarterly meetings less impactful, as many of the attendees have 
previously discussed these issues and any action plans in place. 

B.2.1 Financial Reporting

The Trust’s financial performance has been good in recent years but the 
Trust faces significant challenges in order to meet its control total 
requirements in 2016/17. As part of our review, we have reviewed recent 
finance reports presented to the F&P committee and the Trust Board. 
Our review identified a number of good practice elements to the report, 
including: 

• An appropriately detailed summary section, which highlights key 
financial performance through a mix of graphical and narrative 
analysis;

• The inclusion of a front page overview that provides and sets out high-
level financial performance; and

• A series of sub-sections that are appropriately split between graphical 
analysis, financial data and explanatory narrative.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 37



30

Board Governance
However, having reviewed recent examples of the report, our view is 
that there are a number of areas where the report could be improved, 
particular for those readers who do not have a finance focus. Notable 
areas for development include: 

• A need for greater contextualisation and story-telling throughout the 
report. The current format is not overly reliant on narrative, which is 
positive, but the narrative included could be more focussed on the 
reasons for variance against financial plan and forecast.

• Linked to the above, the report narrative could do more to clarify the 
risks arising from recent performance and any mitigating actions that 
have been put in place to address these matters;

• Scope for improved links to be made between finance and operations. 
Although activity data is included within the report, the method of 
presentation does little to make the link between operational trends 
and financial variances; and

• CIP progress is a key area of focus and regular consideration is given 
to this matter at the F&P Committee, although to a lesser extent at 
Trust Board. However, the reporting included is brief and could be 
improved to include, for example, information relating to current 
actions in place, those in development to address under-achievement 
and a forecast of their likely level of success.

Although there is scope for these improvements to be made, we do 
acknowledge that discussion of the report at the F&P Committee was 
open and well-rounded. Committee members recognise the financial 
pressures being faced by the Trust and the CFO was open with the 
current position and the related level of risk. Figures were frankly 
discussed, with an appreciation of the underlying financial position of the 
Trust.

B.2.2 Quality and Operational Reporting

Quality and operational performance metrics are reported through the 
organisation’s Integrated Quality Performance Report (IQPR), which also 
covers workforce performance. The report is split across the three areas, 
though greater weighting is given to quality and operational performance 
reporting. We have reviewed recent IQPRs presented at both Committee 
and Trust Board level. Our review identified a number of good practice 
elements to the report, including: 

• The IQPR includes a clear Executive Summary, through which key 
performance measures and movements are highlighted in advance of 
the detailed graphical analysis. This includes a summary for each of 
quality, performance and workforce, with the quality section 
particularly strong in the way it splits headlines between those that 
are ‘positive’ and ‘negative’. However, we do note that this approach 
is not consistent with the format used for performance and workforce;

• The report follows a consistent format across each of the three core 
sections, with a good mix of graphical, tabular and data reporting 
used to present recent performance trends. The format adopted is 
clear, with RAG ratings used throughout the report to highlight 
hotspot areas; and

• The analysis included across the report provides a good level of focus 
on historical performance and trends, with consistent reporting 
against the prior quarter or prior twelve months.

However, we also note a number of examples where the IQPR could be 
improved, particularly with regards to the level and quality of narrative 
that is included. Those particularly notable areas for development 
include: 

• A lack of impactful supporting narrative throughout the various 
sections of the report. Whilst narrative is included for the majority of 
metrics, this lacks context and fails to tell the story of recent 
performance trends. In its current format, the report narrative focus is 
largely factual and data-driven, referring to levels of performance and 
failing to answer the ‘So What’ question. The report would benefit 
from narrative that clarifies reasons for performance and steps that 
have been taken to address these matters; 

• Linked to the above, the report also lacks consideration of the risks 
associated with recent or historic performance trends. The report 
could be improved through an approach that considers performance 
cause, performance risks and subsequent mitigations developed to 
manage the risk. Providing this information within the report would 
allow the respective sub-group, committee or Board members to take 
greater assurance that performance concerns are acknowledged and 
are receiving appropriate attention. In conjunction with this, the 
report could be developed to include improved forecasting, to present 
possible performance should mitigating actions have their intended 
impact;

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 38



31

Board Governance
• The report would also benefit from the inclusion of benchmarking, at 

local, regional and national levels. For example, we understand that 
the Trust has recently faced challenges with regards to A&E 4hr 
performance. Although still below the 95% target, recent 
improvements have seen RWT placed in the Top 10 nationally for this 
metric. However, such context and benchmarking is not included 
within the IQPR. Benchmarking could provide insight for sub-
committees and the Board, which may lead to the identification of new 
approaches or peers from which the Trust can learn to improve its 
ways of working. and

• There is scope for improved granularity across the report, particularly 
in relation to quality and operational performance. In the current 
format, reporting is aimed at the Trust-wide level. Whilst there is 
some reference to divisional workforce metrics, the quality and 
operational sections include minimal information regarding 
performance at divisional or directorate level. The inclusion of some 
information in this regard would allow the reader to identify clear 
hotspots of performance, rather than being presented with a red 
indicator with little clarification of which areas are driving negative 
performance trends.

B.3 Data Quality & Information

Data quality practices are well embedded at the Trust with an up-to-date 
Data Quality Policy, a dedicated Data Quality team and divisional data 
quality leads. There has been strong results in Internal Audit reviews 
although we note the Trust does not make use of data kite-marking.

The Trust has a long-standing Data Quality Policy in place, which was 
most recently refreshed in September 2015. One of core key aims of this 
policy is that ‘the Trust will aim to achieve 100% accuracy with all data 
collected’. In pursuit of this, the policy established an Activity and Data 
Quality Sub Group, which holds responsibility for the implementation of 
the policy’s objectives. There were no qualification in the most recent set 
of Trust Quality Accounts (2015/16). 

Linked to this, the Trust has a dedicated Data Quality team. 
Furthermore, the policy requires each of the divisions to assign a data 
quality lead, in order to provide a clear line of communication into the 
central quality team. The policy outlines the approach to various local 
and national data requirements, with links provided to further detail. 
There is also reference to data quality training, with this being available 

to the data quality team and wider Trust staff. 

This approach exhibits a number of areas of good practice and has 
resulted in strong results in recent Internal Audit reviews. For example, a 
review into Cancer Waits Data Quality, in June 2015, resulted in a 
‘substantial assurance’ conclusion. 

Though the Trust’s policy and approach contains a number of elements 
of good practice, we note that the Trust does not make use of data kite-
marking. This represents an area for improvement and we recommend 
the introduction of a kite-marking tool, in order to clearly identify the 
level of assurance that can be placed on particular figures. This is a 
notable area of good practice and will allow the Trust to regularly track 
developments in data quality. 

B.4 Risk Management

Risk management at the Trust is mature with clarity at both Board and 
operational levels regarding respective roles and responsibilities in 
relation to risk management. We have also observed many areas of good 
practice in relation to Trust use of the BAF, TRR and RMS. It is 
acknowledged that there is scope for further development in relation to 
the embeddedness of risk management practices at the operational 
level.

Our Board survey recorded positive results with regards to Board 
member clarity on the role of the Board and its committee in relation to 
risk management, including the BAF.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 39



32

Board Governance
The BAF and TRR featured across all observed Board and Committee 
meetings and we noted them being used to consider key risks and 
responses on an exceptions basis. We have reviewed the quality of these 
key tools as well as the Risk Management Strategy to gauge how they 
compare to best practice.  We outline our findings below but overall the 
quality of the tools compare well to other organisations and they appear 
to be well embedded across the organisation. 

B.3.1 Board Assurance Framework

The Trust’s BAF details the principal risks to meeting Trust strategic 
objectives, sets out controls to mitigate these risks and details 
assurances on the effectiveness of these controls. The BAF provides a 
starting point for the Trust Board to record risks affecting strategic 
objectives, providing a high-level tool that interfaces with the TRR and 
local risk registers. 

We acknowledge that the Trust has done a range of work around the 
BAF, with the aim being that the tool is more user-friendly and 
appropriately linked through to the Trust’s strategic objectives. As part of 
this development, the Trust is also looking to implement KPIs that enable 
the Board and its committees to identify when a particular set of actions 
are working well, rather than simply using metrics to highlight areas of 
under-performance.  

We have reviewed a recent version of the BAF, comparing it against 
other Trusts with which we have worked, and highlight the following 
areas of good practice: 

• Each risk is clearly aligned to the Trust’s Strategic Objectives, with 
each risk also assigned to a particular Executive lead;

• Updates on each risk are appropriately detailed, with key controls, 
assurance and gaps outlined through the document; and

• Outstanding gaps are addressed by the inclusion of details for any 
related action plans.

We have also identified a number of areas where there is scope for 
improving the BAF, including: 

• The completion of control gaps and actions plans is inconsistent across 
the BAF. Some sections, such as that for Strategic Risk 1, are well 

documented and provide an appropriate level of detail. Others, such 
as Strategic Risks 4, 6 and 8 are less detailed and include only high-
level information on related actions; and

• A number of documented action plans are overdue. However, there is 
no information included to clarify why this is the case and no further 
documentation of how this delay will be addressed.

Our Board meeting observations highlighted various risk based 
discussions although the distinction between the BAF and the Risk 
Register was not always clear.

B.3.2 Trust Risk Register

The Trust operates a Trust-wide risk register (Datix), with various 
registers held from ward to Board. As outlined in the Trust’s Risk 
Management Strategy, risks are identified at ward/directorate level and 
are rated in line with the standard impact/likelihood categorisation 
matrix. Our staff survey highlights good awareness of local risks, with a 
substantial majority responding that they were aware of the key risks 
that could affect their respective ward/department.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 40



33

Board Governance
Our interviews indicate that responsibility for managing these risks is 
held at local level, with challenge over scoring and subsequent mitigating 
actions taking place through the divisional group performance sessions. 
Interviewees commented that risk identification and management is 
generally strong across the Trust, with a low level of risk register misuse 
or misinterpretation. We understand that there has been a drive across 
the Trust to ensure the practical application of risk management tools in 
line with policy. 

As noted in the Risk Management Strategy, all risks graded at a score 
greater than 12 will automatically be included the Trust Risk Register 
(TRR), which is monitored through the Board and its committees. The 
TRR is considered by the Board on a regular basis and is reviewed 
monthly by the various committees. Furthermore, we note that the TRR 
is clearly aligned to the Trust’s strategic objectives and that each risk is 
mapped to one of the CQC Fundamental Standards.

In line with the Trust’s Risk Management Strategy, we understand that 
the Trust’s aim is to make divisions and directorates more accountable 
for the risks raised within their areas. At this level, risks will be reviewed 
and monitored through the Divisional Governance meetings, Divisional 
Accountability Agreement meeting and, at Directorate level, through 
group/directorate governance meetings. Interviewees commented that 
although risk registers function well at this level, there is work to be 
done in relation to making assurance and controls more evidence-based. 

The TRR reported to the Board is clearly presented, with key risk 
additions, removals and updates noted through an Executive Summary. 
The detailed TRR contains a number of elements of good practice, 
including: 

• The alignment of each risk to an ED lead; and
• Clear presentation of how each risk is being managed, how mitigation 

will be evidenced, any remaining gaps or evidence that the mitigation 
is not working effectively and any subsequent actions to be put in 
place.

B.3.3 Risk Management Strategy

The Trust has developed a Risk Management Strategy, which was most 
recently reviewed and updated in March 2015, with formal review taking 

place every three years. The latest review underlined a number of key 
development areas, including: the launch of internal quality review 
visits; alignment of KPIs with the CQC Fundamental Standards, Trust 
Objectives and key delivery indicators received by committees; and the 
use of risk registers. In light of these development points, the Trust 
devised an implementation plan to make the necessary adjustments. The 
accountability for Risk Management and the relating framework sits with 
the Head of Governance and Legal Services. However, we understand 
that the portfolio of this post is broad and that the Trust does not have a 
separate, distinct Risk Officer to lead on the day-to-day process. 

Respondents to our staff survey indicate good understanding of how to 
identify and escalate risks and are aware of key risks in their areas. 
Further to this, all Board members responded positively to the survey 
around whether risks are appropriately identified and controlled at the 
Trust. 

Our review of the Risk Management Strategy found it to be well-
established and theoretically advanced. The strategy is aligned to the 
Trust’s over-arching objectives at a high-level, whilst also providing 
appropriate levels of detail relating to the specific elements of the risk 
management structure. The role of the various organisational levels is 
clearly presented, as is the escalation and assurance process up and 
down this structure. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 41



34

Board Governance
The Risk Management Strategy also includes good practice areas in 
relation to ‘Sharing Lessons’ and ‘Action Tracking’. These seek to make 
the link between risk management and ensuring improvement. This 
provides an important closing of the loop regarding any identified risks, 
to ensure that the organisation has addressed risks in what the strategy 
describes as ‘a holistic manner’.

In addition, throughout the strategy document, regular reference is 
made to the Trust’s aim of applying a coordinated and integrated risk 
management approach. The aim of this being to enable better alignment 
between service delivery outcomes, patient outcomes and Trust 
objectives. The strategy sets out a number of high-level aims, one of 
which is the delivery of clear accountability demonstrated in practice. We 
understand the intention is for divisions and directorates to take 
ownership of their risk management, feeding key matters up through the 
escalation framework.  In general, this works well, though we 
understand that this has not been wholly successful.  Interviewees made 
reference to a need for greater accountability at divisional and 
directorate level, to ensure that application in practice is aligned with the 
strategic theory. 

R11: The Board should consider the various observations made 
throughout section B.3 in relation to potential refinements to risk 
management tools.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 42



35

Observations and 
Commentary

C. Divisional Governance and 
Leadership

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 43



36

Divisional Governance and Leadership
C.1 Divisional leadership and structure

The divisional leadership model at the Trust has been in place for eleven 
years and it is acknowledged by Board and staff members to be a mature 
arrangement with a clear commitment to divisional autonomy and 
accountability. The Trust is an outlier to other similar organisations with 
only two clinical divisions although this is recognised and likely to evolve 
as the Trust goes down the ACO route.

The Trust has two core divisions, Division 1 (Surgery) and Division 2 
(Medicine). The leadership team for each division is comprised of: a 
Deputy Chief Operating Officer; two Divisional Medical Directors; a Head 
of Nursing; and a Head of Midwifery (Division 1 only).   The DMDs and 
DCOOs report into the MD and COO respectively, while the Heads of 
Nursing report to the COO from a line management perspective but also 
the Chief Nurse professionally. 

The divisional structure has been in place for eleven years and it has 
been acknowledged by Board members and staff alike that the divisional 
approach is mature, with a clear commitment to divisional autonomy and 
accountability. Our interviews across the Trust provided consistently 
positive feedback with regards to the Divisional Leadership teams, with a 
clear perception that they act on agreed upon positions as a unit. 

Each division has 15 directorates reporting into it, largely speciality 
based, and the leadership structure of each directorate is similar to the 
divisions with a Clinical Director; General Manager and Matron 
triumvirate.  As with the divisional structure, this leadership approach is 
well-established and we understand that a substantial amount of work 
has been undertaken to clarify and strengthen the directorate leadership 
roles. 

With only two divisions, the Trust is atypical for an organisation of this 
size, as the number is generally in the region of three to five clinical 
divisions. Too few divisions can place a significant burden on the 
divisional leadership teams if they have responsibility for overseeing an 
excessively large number of directorates. We understand the Trust 
compensates for this challenge by having two DMDs, although we further 
understand that there are capacity constraints on those individuals given 
the combination of clinical and divisional leadership responsibilities. 

However, there is a recognition by the Trust that further growth could 
place a strain on this long-standing two-divisional structure and it is 
anticipated that the Trust will need to revisit organisational structure as 
it progresses the Vertical Integration / Accountable Care Organisation 
initiatives. 

R12: The Board should consider the appropriateness of the current 
number of divisions as the Trust is currently an outlier relative to similar 
organisations.

C.2 Divisional and directorate governance

The Trust has introduced a range of best practices in governance across 
both divisions and directorates which provide a level of standardisation 
whilst allowing flexibility to meet the requirements of specific areas. It is 
recognised that there is further leadership development required to 
ensure that the governance structure is consistently applied across the 
directorate structure.

C.2.1 Standardisation of governance

The Trust has undertaken significant work with divisions and directorates 
to strengthen their approach, policies and procedures. In particular, we 
note development in relation to incident reporting, risk identification and 
risk escalation. Furthermore, there has been improvement in relation to 
the way through which divisions and directorates follow-up on Serious 
Incidents.  Central to this work has been the steer towards standardised 
process and procedure across the organisation. The divisions and 
directorates make use of guide terms of reference, standardised agendas 
and consistent Integrated Governance reporting templates. To aid 
directorate-level engagement with this process, a Band 5 governance 
officer has been assigned to each directorate. We draw this example out 
as a particular element of good practice and a clear indication of the 
Trust’s focus on ensuring that governance arrangements are consistent 
throughout organisation.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 44



37

Divisional Governance and Leadership
Whilst there are strict guidelines within which the divisions and 
directorates must operate, there is a level of flexibility to ensure that the 
approach fits the particular requirements of divisions. For example, each 
Division has autonomy over the running of governance and 
business/performance meetings, in line with standardised terms and 
agendas referenced above. In general, each division splits these sessions 
between a Governance meeting and a Finance/Business meeting. We 
received feedback that this approach had previously resulted in some silo 
working within the divisions, with little multidisciplinary review taking 
place. However, we understand that this has recently improved, with a 
greater level of integration evident within both divisions.

C.2.2 Performance management

Divisions are held to account through a range of forums, the most 
prominent of which are: monthly Operational Finance meetings; and the 
quarterly DAA meetings. It is worth noting that the format of the DAA is 
currently under review internally, following divisional feedback that there 
were too many forums for review. Feedback from our interviews is 
largely consistent with the headline comment above, although we do 
note that Executives and Senior Management have said they find the 
DAA meetings productive. We received feedback that they are seen as 
constructive, productive sessions, as opposed to an intense question and 
answer for the divisional leadership team. 

We understand that performance/accountability sessions take place for 
each professional grouping. There are regular review meetings in place 
between the Chief Nurse and Senior Matrons across the two divisions, 
with feedback that these are productive and follow a structured 
approach. Similarly, we understand the Chief Operating Officer holds 
regular update meetings with the Deputy COOs and Directorate 
Managers.  However, the approach for Medical professionals is less 
formal, with an ad hoc approach to meetings between the Medical 
Director and Senior Medical staff. Although Senior Medical staff raised no 
concerns with this approach and meetings do appear to take place on a 
regular basis, this represents an area where consistency across the 
professional lines could be improved by the Executive triumvirate. 

See R2 & R3 above

Each division is responsible for holding the directorates to account for 

delivery. This is done through the Quality Assurance meeting in Surgery 
and the Performance meeting in Medicine.

C.2.3 Internal Audit review of governance

The Trust commissioned its Internal Auditor (IA) to conduct a review of 
Divisional and Directorate Governance, the report for which was 
published in August 2016. On the whole, the report concluded positively 
on the structures and processes in place across the two divisions, with a 
final rating of ‘Reasonable Assurance’ given. Key areas of good practice 
highlighted by the report in relation to the divisions include: 

• Each Division has a Governance Strategy in place which details the 
governance arrangements, roles and responsibilities, Terms of 
Reference and standard agendas for the Divisional and Directorate 
Governance Committees;

• The Quality Assurance (Surgical) and Performance (Medical) meetings 
provide ‘check and challenge’ to the Directorate Governance 
Committees to assess compliance with the governance arrangements 
and ensure they are working effectively in line with the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) five domains.  The Deputy Chief Operating Officers 
(Surgical and Medical) are members of the Divisional Governance 
Committees and lead on the Quality and Performance meetings.

• The two Divisions (Surgical and Medical) report to the Trust 
Management Committee in a standardised and consistent manner for 
reporting purposes. 

• From the meeting observations performed during the audit, IA 
observed sufficient challenge, holding individuals to account for 
actions, risks being discussed and challenged and individuals from the 
Directorates attending the meetings (when invited). 

Similarly, the IA report included a number of specific findings with 
regards to Directorate governance, including: 

• Certain Directorates are working to separate Terms of Reference 
outside of the Governance Strategy and are not aligned to the broader 
division;

• In some cases, quoracy is not always achieved at Directorate 
Governance meetings; and

• Directorate Governance meeting agendas do not always fully comply 
with the Trust’s Governance Strategy. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 45



38

Divisional Governance and Leadership
C.2.3 Internal Audit review of governance (continued)

Whilst these points are not individually or cumulatively material, they 
further support the above conclusions relating to a lack of consistency in 
the governance arrangements across the sub-divisional structure of the 
Trust. This has been acknowledged by Trust leadership and, in light of 
this, we understand that the Trust is looking to implement a range of 
medical and leadership development, further details of which are 
outlined and assessed in the section below. 

C.2.4 Consistency of approach

While the general approach to directorate leadership is sound, there are 
pockets across the Trust where there is scope for further leadership 
development across directorate teams. This has been acknowledged by 
the Executive and Divisional leadership as an area for improvement, with 
a clear focus now being placed on ensuring that all directorate teams are 
consistent in relation to: ownership; clarity of leadership roles; 
displaying and living the Trust’s values; empowerment and autonomy as 
a directorate triumvirate; and accountability and ownership of their 
performance. 

During interviews, we received feedback that more could be done at 
divisional level to ensure that their directorates are adopting a consistent 
approach. A notable example of this was highlighted in relation to the 
identification, monitoring and implementation of CIP schemes. As with 
many NHS organisations, CIP schemes are a key area of pressure. Whilst 
not widespread across the Trust, we observed some instances where 
there was lack of directorate buy-in to the CIP process. In some ways, 
this is linked to points raised above and the Trust are aware of the need 
to ensure appropriate buy-in to fully embed CIP development across the 
organisation. 

In light of these points, the Trust’s leadership team have identified a 
need for a full organisational development approach, to support 
leadership teams and individuals throughout the Trust. Ultimately, the 
aim of any organisational development will be to develop and embed 
accountability and ownership at the local level, with a move towards 
more focussed support for certain directorates.

C.3 Leadership Development

The Trust takes a proactive approach to leadership development with a 
range of opportunities available to staff at all levels of the organisation. 
This includes support to embed the application of governance and 
leadership structures; a range of formal qualifications and a number of 
broader clinical development initiatives. However, there is scope for 
improving the succession planning for senior clinical leadership roles at 
the Divisional and Directorate levels.

The Trust is looking to put in place a range of Medical and wider 
leadership development programmes. In some cases, these are being 
developed to strengthen and embed the practical application of 
governance and leadership structures throughout the organisation. 
However, our interviews and documentation reviews have found that the 
leadership development at the organisation is not purely reactive and 
that it is well-embedded throughout the Trust. 

We acknowledge that there has been a wide range of leadership and 
management skills training opportunities arranged, with these aimed at 
supporting development of divisional and directorate leadership teams. 
For example, we are aware of a relatively significant number of 
individuals that have completed, or are in the process of completing, 
MBA qualifications. Furthermore, we understand that a number of staff 
have completed Masters qualifications or individual Masters modules. 

In addition to formal qualifications, the Trust has also engaged with a 
number of broader development initiatives, such as: their Clinical Fellow 
Programme, in partnership with the Academic Institute of Medicine and 
the University of Wolverhampton; the RWT Apprenticeship scheme; and 
the Medical Development Programme, in partnership with University 
Hospitals Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust. 

Taking a broader view, these examples sit within the context of the 
Trust’s Education and Training Strategy. Developed in 2008, but most 
recently refreshed in 2014, this strategy sets out a number of key aims 
for the development at the Trust. The strategy itself contains a number 
of areas of good practice and is due to be reviewed in 2017. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 46



39

Divisional Governance and Leadership
C.3 Leadership Development (continued)

Our staff focus groups also reflected positively on the level of 
development opportunities made available to staff across the Trust. Staff 
at matron level commented the access they had been given to further 
learning through post-graduate modules and a number of staff members 
praised the array of internal learning and development opportunities 
provided by the Trust. When the above points are taken into 
consideration, it is clear that the Trust compares well against other 
organisations with which we have worked and their focus on 
development is an evident area of good practice. 

One area for improvement relates to the development of senior members 
of staff into leadership roles at Directorate and Divisional level. During 
interviews with staff, we were made aware that succession planning at 
these levels is inconsistent across the professional groups. In particular, 
we note a lack of depth for medical leadership roles and, in particular, for 
the role of Divisional Medical Director. We understand that there is a 
perception amongst senior clinicians that these roles are not prestigious 
and that, as such, there is a lack of interest in developing into these 
roles. Whilst this matter is not unique to RWT, more could be done to 
engage with senior clinicians and develop interest in the divisional posts. 
The same can be said for the role of Clinical Director as, whilst there is 
not a lack of interest, there is a perception that senior clinicians are not 
fully engaged and that the role is simply filled on a rotational basis by 
the next person in line. 

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 47



40

Summary of 
Recommendations

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 48



41

Summary of Recommendations

Ref. Recommendation

R1 The CEO should further reflect on his personal style and in particular the potential impact his strength of character and impulsive 
and honest style may have on internal and external stakeholders.

R2 The Trust should consider a more formal approach to the Medical Director’s role in relation to the performance management of 
senior clinicians and ensure regular medical representation in performance review meetings and Board and Committee meetings. 

R3 The Trust should consider the appointment of a Deputy Medical Director.

R4 The Board should reflect on the respective roles of EDs and NEDs and consider whether the current balance between support and
challenge is optimal.

R5 The Chair and NHSI should consider the need to appoint two new NEDs over the next 6-9 months to help bring a refreshed 
perspective to the Board. The skill set of new appointees should reflect the challenges the Trust faces over the next few years,
particularly skills in partnership working as it moves towards the ACO.

R6 The Board should consider further mechanisms for enhancing Non-Executive visibility over activities at the divisional and directorate 
level, for example activities such as greater divisional representation at Board level or buddying arrangements with divisions or 
directorates.

R7 The Trust and NHSI should consider a succession plan to manage the transition in Chairmanship over the medium term.

R8 The Trust should ensure that there are more clearly defined succession plans in place to manage the transition in key ED posts over 
the medium to long term.

R9 The Board should reflect on the Trust’s approach to partnership working in situations where developments are not necessarily fully 
aligned with the Trust agenda.

R10 The Board should consider the various observations made throughout section B.1 in relation to potential refinements to the 
operation of committees.

R11 The Board should consider the various observations made throughout section B.3 in relation to potential refinements to risk 
management tools.

R12 The Board should consider the appropriateness of the current number of divisions as the Trust is currently an outlier relative to 
similar organisations.

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 49



42

Appendix 1

Statement of Responsibility

The Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust - Governance and Leadership Review © Deloitte LLP 2016FINAL REPORT FOR PUBLICATION: 9 NOVEMBER 2016

P
age 50



43

Statement of Responsibility

We take responsibility for this Final Report which is prepared on the basis of the limitations set out below. 

This Final Report has been prepared solely on the basis of circumstances existing up to the time which it is dated. Changes in circumstances may affect 
the observations, recommendations and other commentary detailed in this Final Report. We have no responsibility to monitor the continuing relevance 
of suitability of this Final Report for the purposes it was supplied.

The matters raised in this Final Report are only those which came to our attention during the course of our work and are not necessarily a 
comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that may exist or all improvements that might be made.  Any recommendations made for 
improvements should be assessed by you for their full impact before they are implemented.  

This Final Report is prepared solely for your information. Whilst we have agreed that the Final Report may be published on the Trust website, no other 
person is entitled to rely on this report for any purpose whatsoever and thus we accept no liability to any other party who accesses this document on 
the Trust website or otherwise.

Deloitte LLP, 2 Hardman Street, Manchester, M3 3HF, October 2016

Deloitte LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC303675 and its registered office at 2 New Street 
Square, London EC4A 3BZ, United Kingdom.

Deloitte LLP is the United Kingdom member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited (“DTTL”), a UK private company limited by guarantee, whose 
member firms are legally separate and independent entities. Please see www.deloitte.co.uk/about for a detailed description of the legal structure of 
DTTL and its member firms.

© 2016 Deloitte LLP. All rights reserved.

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Panel is recommended to:

1. Recommendations for noting: 
           

  The Health Scrutiny Panel is asked to note:

The outcome of the consultation regarding the closure of inpatient services on the Pond lane 
site, and the relocation of the inpatient services to alternative provision in Dudley, Sandwell 
and Walsall. 

1.0 Purpose

Health Scrutiny Panel
12 January 2017

Report title An Update Regarding  the NHS Learning 
Disability In-patient provision at Pond Lane 
Hospital which is provided by the Black Country 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Sandra Samuels

Wards affected All

Accountable director Steven Marshall, Director of Strategy and Transformation

Originating service Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group

Accountable employee(s) Wendy Ewins
Tel
Email

Learning Disability Joint Commissioner
01902 444878
wendy.ewins@nhs.net

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Wolverhampton  Clinical Commissioning 
Group Commissioning Committee and 
Governing Body

Page 53

Agenda Item No: 6

mailto:wendy.ewins@nhs.net


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Health Scrutiny Panel with an 
update regarding the NHS Learning Disability In-patient provision at Pond Lane Hospital 
including a the outcome of the consultation and agreement by Wolverhampton Clinical 
Commissioning Committee and Governing Body to relocate services. 

2.0 Background

2.1 Pond lane is a five bedded assessment and treatment unit situated in the Park Fields 
area of Wolverhampton.  As a hospital site it is isolated from any of the other BCPFT 
services including In-patient provision. The service provides specialist assessment and 
treatment In-patient services to male and female adults with learning disabilities and 
additional complex health needs, such as autistic spectrum disorders, mental health 
difficulties and / or challenging behaviour.

2.2 Working with the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group the Black Country 
Mental Health Partnership Trust wished to relocate the three Pond Lane In-patient beds 
to services provided at Dudley, Sandwell, and Wolverhampton. This will involve the 
closure of the three In-patient beds at Pond Lane. This action is required because the 
very low numbers of beds provided within the service are somewhat isolated from other 
Trust services and this raises environmental, clinical and staffing safety concerns which 
are impacting upon the delivery of the service to this very vulnerable group. A clinically 
safer and more viable service could be provided from the BCPFT Learning Disability In-
patient services in Dudley, Sandwell and Walsall where other Wolverhampton patients 
are in receipt of In-patient services currently. All of these services are less isolated, 
provide a critical mass of service provision that offers clinically and environmentally safer 
services, and all are accessible by public transport.   

2.3 In recent years Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group has reduced the level of 
commissioned activity at Pond Lane Hospital from five beds to three in line with reduced 
levels of demand for Wolverhampton patients. Reduction in bed numbers is in keeping 
with the “Transforming Care- national response to Winterbourne View” agenda which will 
require a reduction in bed based services for people with a learning disability and / or 
autism. The revenue from the reduced bed based capacity at Pond Lane is already being 
invested in an alternative community model which is delivering intensive support to 
patients and their families from Wolverhampton in their own homes.  In addition to this 
local service development, Wolverhampton CCG is part of the Black Country 
Transforming Care Partnership which has developed and submitted a robust 
implementation plan to NHS England to deliver further service change and 
transformation over the next three years resulting in more community based services, 
including bespoke packages of care. 

3.0 Progress 

3.1 Wolverhampton is currently embedding a model of Intensive Community Support within 
its provision of specialist healthcare for adults with learning disabilities, in keeping with 

Page 54



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

the National Model. In 2016, there have been only three new admissions to inpatient 
services for adults with learning disabilities, all have needed short interventions before 
being discharged back to community services. The admissions have been for 4 days, 11 
days and 8 weeks, with a focus on providing intensive support services at home for 
people as soon as it is safe and clinically appropriate to do so. 

3.2     Since the launch of the Transforming Care Programme all admissions now have Care 
and Treatment Reviews as a central and regular monitor and driver of a person’s care 
and treatment. These Care and Treatment Reviews have supported the clinical teams to 
ensure that people can access high-quality assessment and treatment in a hospital 
setting, staying no longer than they need to, and with discharge planning starting from 
the point of admission or before. 

3.2 Formal consultation took place between  4th July 2016 and 22nd August 2016, following 
a period of pre-engagement. The full consultation report is attached to this report, in 
Appendix 1. The recommendations arising from the consultation centre on the need to 
consider transport and support families to be able to make appropriate arrangements 
when visiting their family member.

3.3 Following the outcome of the consultation, it was recommended to Wolverhampton CCG 
Commissioning Committee and Governing Body that Wolverhampton does not continue 
to offer a local inpatient service. This recommendation was formally agreed by the CCG 
on 8 November 2016.

3.4 It was recommended that through Care and Treatment Reviews, transport and family 
contact is considered on an individual basis, and with personalised leave and family 
contact arrangements being developed and reviewed in line with best practice, and 
supported financially where necessary by the CCG. 

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 Reduction in bed based activity at Pond Lane in 15/16 and 16/17 has released 
investment for community based services. An Intensive Support Service model is now 
being embedded by BCPFT across Wolverhampton. This service will be reviewed at the 
end of January 2017 to consider its impact and outcomes, and to enable learning to be 
used across the Black Country as we consider a more collaborative approach in 2017/8.   
The remaining revenue invested in bed based services at Pond Lane will be used to 
purchase beds in the BCPFT in-patient services outlined in the table below

Page 55



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

LOCATION BCPFT HOSPITAL SITE
Dudley The Ridge Hill Centre

Brierley Hill Road
Nr. Stourbridge
West Midlands
DY8 5ST

Sandwell Penrose House
Heath Lane Hospital
Heath Lane
West Bromwich
B71 2BG

Walsall Orchard Hills
Fallowfield Road
Walsall
WS5 3DY

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 Both the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group and the Black Country 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust had a legal duty to consult regarding this significant 
service change; this was undertaken jointly. 

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 outlines the Public Sector Equality Duty to engage 
with relevant individuals regarding key decisions. This has been delivered. 

7.0 Environmental implications

7.1 There are currently no environmental implications associated with this report.

8.0 Human resources implications

8.1 Staff were consulted as part of the consultation and management of change processes. 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications

9.1 There are no corporate landlord implications arising from this report.

10.0 Schedule of background papers

Page 56



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.1 The Consultation report is attached in Appendix One.  

10.2    The previous Health Scrutiny Report is attached in Appendix 2

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

NHS Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (WCCG) 

 

 

 

A public consultation on: 

 

 

Moving three Assessment and 

Treatment Learning Disability in-

patient beds at Pond Lane Hospital to 

existing services in Dudley, Walsall 

and Sandwell 

 

 

Monday 4 July 2016 to Monday 22 August 2016 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 59



 
 

2 
 

Executive Summary 

This report highlights the evaluation of the Public Consultation on moving three 

Assessment and Treatment Learning Disability in-patient beds at Pond Lane 

Hospital to existing services in Dudley, Walsall and Sandwell. The consultation took 

place from Monday 4 July 2016 to Monday 22 August 2016. 

 

 

The consultation process 

Over 300 Stakeholders representing inclusive and varied organisations were invited 

to feedback their views on the consultation by completing an online questionnaire, 

hard copies and an easy read version were also available. Nineteen people 

completed the questionnaire. 

 

Two events were held, the first was a public drop in session which took place on 7 

July. Five people attended the event.  

 

Service users who had been inpatients during the past 18 months, their, families and 

carers were invited to a second event which took place 18 August 2016. This event 

also included a sensory room and specially (for this consultation) an independent 

advocacy group was commissioned consisting of an expert by experience and 

independent professional advisor. Seven people attended. 

 

 

Questionnaire analysis 

Most people chose Option 1 (9 people) to permanently close the inpatient service. 

 

The second largest group chose Option 2 (7 people) to keep the beds at Pond Lane. 

 

Three people chose to close the in-patient service and only have a community home 

treatment model of care. 

 

Page 60



 
 

3 
 

This means that 12 respondents would be in agreement with permanently closing the 

beds at Pond Lane. 

 

The majority of responders identified themselves as either professionals, where eight 

people responded (42.1%) or members of the public where again eight people 

responded (42.1%). These groups were represented by 50% more than the next 

highest group who were Carers at 4 respondents (21.1%). 

 

 

Q1. If this proposal to close the beds at Pond Lane goes ahead the impact on 

me will be: 

No impact 10 people (52.6%) 

Negative impact 5 people (26.3%) 

Positive impact 4 people (21.1%) 

 

Therefore 14 people are not concerned over the impact on them. 

 

Q2. If the inpatient service is kept at Pond Lane, what impact will this have on 

you? 

No impact 11 people (57.9%) 

Positive impact 6 people (31.6%) 

Negative impact 2 people (10.5%) 

 

Q3. If the inpatient service is moved out of Wolverhampton to Dudley, Walsall 

and Sandwell, what impact travel wise will this have on carers and families of 

service users? 

 

Most patients (10) said that if the service moved out of Pond Lane it would have a 

negative impact travel wise (52.6%). One person (5.3%) said it would have a positive 

impact travel wise. 8 people said there would be no impact on them travel wise if the 

service moved.  Therefore 9 people did not have concerns over the impact on them 

travel wise if the service was closed at Pond Lane. 

Page 61



 
 

4 
 

 

Q4.Question four asks people to tell us of any other comments that they would 

like to be considered: 

The six written comments received in answer to question 4 express a concern that if 

the beds do not remain at Pond Lane, loss of service provision will ensue. One 

respondent comments that these services are for the most vulnerable people and 

another respondent worries that closing the beds will lead to a reduction in 

resources. Concerns are also raised about need to travel further to visit relatives.  

 

Two respondents do not understand why the service cannot remain in 

Wolverhampton. One person feels that the decision to close the beds had already 

been made prior to the consultation: 

 

 

Conclusion 

 When considering the Options, although more people are in favour of Option 1 to 

close the beds (9 people) the difference between those choosing Option 2 to keep 

the beds (7people) is only a margin of 2 people in favour. However, when we take 

into consideration Option 3 to have only a community model of care the overall 

margin in favour of not keeping beds open in Pond Lane is 12, therefore the margin 

in favour is three. 

 When considering the impact respondents felt the closure of the Pond Lane service 

would have on them, the majority of participants told us that the closure would have 

no impact on them 52.6% (ten people). Five people (26.3%) felt they would 

experience a negative impact and 21.1% of respondents felt the closure would have 

a positive impact on them.  Therefore, in total14 people felt that the impact of closing 

the beds at Pond Lane would not cause them concern. 

 Most respondents felt that the Pond Lane service remaining would have no impact 

on them, neither, positive or negative. 

 Ten respondents were concerned about the impact having to travel further if the 

Pond Lane beds were closed would have on them. However, 9 people in total did not 

Page 62



 
 

5 
 

express concern around the impact travel would have on them if the beds at Pond 

Lane were to close 

 Some people expressed concern about the potential loss of a local service if the 

Pond Lane service was closed.  The main concern is having to travel further to visit 

loved ones.  There is also a concern that if the service moves elsewhere the loss of 

more local community services will follow and the need for support and advice will 

not be met. One person is also concerned that in an emergency the further distance 

will delay a rapid response. 

 

 

Recommendations 

1. It is recommended that the commissioners note the concerns highlighted in the 

report before making final decisions on the option to take forward: 

 Travel issues:  Initial feedback from service users and their families highlighted 

that travel to the beds (if placed outside of the city) may be a concern, but this 

was raised as a possible concern for other families, as it wasn’t an issue for the 

families involved in the pre-engagement. Stakeholders noted that relocation of 

the services to be closer to associated services and thereby potentially secure 

service improvements was acknowledged as probably of merit. 52.6% of survey 

respondents that if the beds were moved, there would be a negative impact on 

them in terms of travelling out of Wolverhampton. Written responses suggested 

that extra support could be offered: 

 Options:  12 people chose Options 1 and 3, therefore it would seem that a total 

of 12/19 people would be in agreement with not to keep beds at Pond Lane.  

 Impact of closure: 14 survey respondents indicated that the impact of the 

closure of Pond Lane site would not cause them concern. 

 

2. It is also recommended that this report is published and circulated to those who took 

part in the consultation, with thanks to them for the time they spent responding and 

for their very useful input. 

  

Page 63



 
 

6 
 

Introduction 

 

Who we are 

NHS Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group (WCCG) is responsible for 

commissioning healthcare services for people with learning disabilities and/or 

autism.   

 

The service currently provided at Pond Lane 

The Black Country Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (BCPFT) provides three 

inpatient beds in Wolverhampton at Pond Lane Learning Disability Assessment and 

Treatment Service, for people with learning disabilities who require admission to 

hospital because of a mental health problem, or a behaviour that is labelled as 

challenging. These beds are in a five-bedded hospital.  

 

Pond Lane site is isolated from the Trust’s other services for people with learning 

disabilities and this raises environmental, clinical and staffing concerns which have 

an impact on the delivery of the service to this very vulnerable group. The CCG and 

the provider NHS Trust feel that a clinically safer and more viable service could be 

provided at BCPFT’s other Learning Disability Inpatient services in Dudley, Sandwell 

and Walsall. 

 

At the moment the three beds in Pond Lane are temporarily closed to new 

admissions.  

 

The Case for Change 

Pond lane is a five bedded assessment and treatment unit situated in the Park Field 

area of Wolverhampton.  As a hospital site it is isolated from any of the other BCPFT 

services including In-patient provision. The service provides specialist assessment 

and treatment In-patient services to male and female adults with learning disabilities 

and additional complex health needs, such as autistic spectrum disorders, mental 

health difficulties and / or challenging behaviour. 

Page 64



 
 

7 
 

Working with the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group the Black Country 

Mental Health Partnership Trust wishes to relocate the three Pond Lane In-patient 

beds to services provided at Dudley, Sandwell, and Wolverhampton. This will involve 

the closure of the three In-patient beds at Pond Lane. This action is required 

because the very low numbers of beds provided within the service are somewhat 

isolated from other Trust services and this raises environmental, clinical and staffing 

safety concerns which are impacting upon the delivery of the service to this very 

vulnerable group. A clinically safer and more viable service could be provided from 

the BCPFT Learning Disability In-patient services in Dudley, Sandwell and Walsall 

where other Wolverhampton patients are in receipt of In-patient services currently. 

All of these services are less isolated; provide a critical mass of service provision 

that offers clinically and environmentally safer services, and all are easy accessible 

by public transport.    

 

In recent years Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group has reduced the level 

of commissioned activity at Pond Lane Hospital from five beds to three in line with 

reduced levels of demand for Wolverhampton patients. Reduction in bed numbers is 

in keeping with the “Transforming Care- national response to Winterbourne View” 

which will require a reduction in bed based services for people with a learning 

disability and / or autism. The revenue from the reduced bed based capacity at Pond 

Lane is already being invested in an alternative community model which will deliver 

assertive outreach support and interventions providing increased care and support 

for patients and their families from Wolverhampton in their own homes.  In addition to 

this local service development Wolverhampton CCG is part of the Black Country 

Transforming Care Partnership which has developed and submitted a robust 

implementation plan to NHS England which will deliver further service change and 

transformation over the next three years resulting in more community based services 

including bespoke packages of care.  

 

Listening to our patients, their families, Carers and stakeholders 

During May and June 2016 BCPFT engaged with patients, Carers and other 

stakeholders to find out their views on the possibility to move the services 

Page 65



 
 

8 
 

permanently from Pond Lane to the other locations.  All feedback was considered 

and a decision made by WCCG and BCPFT to continue to Public consultation.  The 

consultation took place from Monday 4 July 2016 to Monday 22 August 2016. 

 

The pre-consultation engagement process – what people said 

Pre-consultation engagement was undertaken from 16 May - 6 June 2016 with 

patients, families, carers and service commissioners.  Two events were held 

specifically for service users, their families and carers and views scoped from WCCG 

and BCPFT stakeholder lists (which total over 300 organisations such as 

Healthwatch and Wolverhampton Voluntary Sector Council). Both BCPFT and 

WCCG have membership schemes which were also targeted for their general views 

on the possible proposal. Views were also sought views from staff within BCPFT and 

City of Wolverhampton Council.  Invitations were sent out from BCPFT to patients 

and their carers/families admitted in the last eighteen months along with a link to the 

consultation document and questionnaire and a briefing including information on how 

to get involved with the consultation was emailed to all stakeholders. 

 

Initial feedback from service users and their families highlighted that travel to the 

beds (if placed outside of the city) may be a concern, but this was raised as a 

possible concern for other families, as it wasn’t an issue for the families involved in 

the pre-engagement. Feedback from local stakeholders noted that it would be 

preferable to stay local for convenience for service users and their families, but noted 

that relocation of the services to be closer to associated services and thereby 

potentially secure service improvements was acknowledged as probably of merit. 

 

The consultation process 

The consultation took place from 04 July 2016 to Monday 22 August 2016. Below 

are the various communication and engagement methods: 

 

How we let people know about the consultation 

Week commencing 4 July 2016: 

Page 66



 
 

9 
 

 Distribution of a printed and pdf consultation document, an easy read version in both 

printed and pdf version including survey and an online version of survey. Distributed 

to Mencap, Social Workers, Pond Lane outpatients waiting area, A4I, Scott House 

outpatients and Dudley Ridgehill Centre. 

 Live webpage on both WCCG website and BCPFT website outlining consultation 

including links to online surveys, public event poster and pdf consultation 

documents. 

 Link to consultation webpage on Healthwatch Wolverhampton website 

 4 July – 22 August 2016 – Tweet schedule implemented advertising consultation, 

online survey and public event  

 05 July 2016 email out to WCCG stakeholders informing them about the consultation 

and links to the webpage and online survey. 

 29 July 2016 - Healthwatch advertised our consultation to their members via email. 

 

Engagement events 

Two engagement events took place during the consultation period. The first was a 

drop-in public event which took place 7 July 2016 at the Brickkiln Community Centre, 

Cherry Street, WV3 0QW.  To let as many people as possible know about the event 

information, including posters, was sent to all stakeholders. Examples include, 

Mencap, Social workers, Pond Lane outpatients waiting areas. Five people attended 

the event, statutory agencies present included BCPFT, City of Wolverhampton 

Council , WCCG  and Healthwatch. 

 

Service users who had been inpatients during the past 18 months, their, families and 

carers were invited to a second event which took place 18 August 2016. This event 

also included a sensory room and specially (for this consultation) an independent 

advocacy group was commissioned consisting of an expert by experience and 

independent professional advisor.  

 

Key stakeholders 

Over 300 Stakeholders representing inclusive and varied organisations were invited 

to feedback their views on the consultation. These organisations represented the 

Page 67



 
 

10 
 

nine protected characteristics as outlined in the Equality and Diversity Act 2010 (the 

full stakeholder list can be seen Appendix A). 

 

Feedback from completed questionnaires 

The following section of the report analyses the feedback received from the 19 

completed questionnaires received. Not all respondents answered all the questions, 

and this accounts for some different totals in answers to some questions. 

 

Analysis of questionnaire responses 

Which of the three proposals do you think will best meet the future needs of 

patients with learning disabilities? 

 

 

Answer Options 
Respons

e Percent 

Response 

Count 

Option 1: To permanently close the inpatient service for people with 

learning disabilities at Pond Lane and move the services to other services 

in Dudley, Walsall and Sandwell. 

47.4% 9 

Option 2: To keep the beds in Wolverhampton, ie in-patient beds at Pond 

Lane open. 
36.8% 7 

Which of the two proposals do you think will best meet the future needs of 
patients with learning disabilities? 

Option 1: To permanently close the
inpatient service for people with learning
disabilities at Pond Lane and move the
services to other services in Dudley,
Walsall and Sandwell.

Option 2: To keep the beds in
Wolverhampton, ie in-patient beds at
Pond Lane open.

Option 3: To permanently close the in-
patient service for people with learning
disabilities at Pond Lane and only have
Community Home Treatment model, with
spot purchase of an out of area bed
(wherever this can be found) at the time
when this becomes nece

Page 68



 
 

11 
 

Option 3: To permanently close the in-patient service for people with 

learning disabilities at Pond Lane and only have Community Home 

Treatment model, with spot purchase of an out of area bed (wherever this 

can be found) at the time when this becomes necessary. 

15.8% 3 

If you wish, please give a reason for your choice. 8 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

Commentary  

The table and graph show that the largest group of people answering the 

questionnaire, 9 people in total (47.4%), chose Option 1 to permanently close the 

inpatient service. The second largest group voted to keep the beds in 

Wolverhampton (36.8%), 7 people.  It is interesting to note that the difference in 

opinion between Option 1 and Option 2 is only two people. However, three people 

chose Option 3, to close the Pond Lane in-patient service for people with Learning 

Disabilities and only have a community Home Treatment model of care (15.8%).  

 

Therefore it would seem that a total of 12 people would be in agreement with not to 

keep beds at Pond Lane. 

 

In answer to this question respondents were also asked to express their views by 

adding any additional comments. As seen in the seven comments received people 

were: 

 

 Concerned about having to travel further to 

visit relatives and friends if they needed 

hospital admission ( three comments), 

although one further respondent did 

mention good public transport links (one 

comment) 

 

  

Out of area option would have an impact on 

families/carers ie visiting, network of people 

already established in Wolverhampton 

Best to be in the community but if it became 

necessary for someone to go as an impatient 

then families need to be able to get to their 

family member as easy as possible 

it's ner to their famley 

The services mentioned being assessable by 

public transport is good. 

Page 69



 
 

12 
 

 

 In two cases supportive of the community 

model 

 

 In support of having beds provided more 

centrally (one comment) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The comments above are recorded as verbatim. 

 

To understand the mix of respondents the following question asked people to identify 

themselves as a patient, Carer, a member of the public, a professional, by 

representing an occupation or organisation. 

 

I am responding to these plans as: 

 

A patient; a Carer; a 

member of the public; a 

professional; 

occupation/organisation 

 

 

 

  

Option 3 maintains the learning 

disabled person in a familiar home 

environment rather then moving to an 

institutional setting i.e. pond lane or 

similar.  spot purchase when required 

is a better solution. 

My only proviso is that the community 

Home Treatment model must be 

individually tailored to the person's 

requirements bearing in mind also the 

support and respite needs of relatives 

who are caring. 

 

Too many beds across 

Black Country. Pond Lane 

is least viable as smallest. 

Inpatient units need 

'critical mass' in order to 

offer flexible and 

competent services 

Page 70



 
 

13 
 

 

I am responding to these plans as: 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

A patient 0.0% 0 

A carer 21.1% 4 

A member of the public 42.1% 8 

A professional  42.1% 8 

Occupation and organisation 8 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

Commentary 

This table shows the statistics of survey responders. The majority of responders 

identified themselves as either professionals, where eight people responded (42.1%) 

or members of the public where again eight people responded (42.1%.).  

 

These groups were represented by 50% more than the next highest group who were 

Carers at 4 respondents (21.1%).  

 

Unfortunately, no one identifying themselves as a patient responded to the 

questionnaire. As an easy read version of the questionnaire was available and 

experts in attendance to help with communication at the patient only event it may be 

supposed that patients were happy to let their Carers, families and professionals 

respond, although this cannot be ascertained as fact. 

 

 

  

Page 71



 
 

14 
 

Q1. If this proposal to close the beds at Pond Lane goes ahead the impact on 

me will be: 

 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Positive 21.1% 4 

Negative 26.3% 5 

No impact 52.6% 10 

If you wish, please explain your reasons for saying this here 7 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

Commentary  

The table above shows the impact respondents felt the closure of the Pond Lane 

service would have on them. The majority of participants told us that the closure 

would have no impact on them 52.6% (ten people). Five people (26.3%) felt they 

would experience a negative impact and 21.1% of respondents felt the closure would 

have a positive impact on them. Therefore, In total, 14 people felt that the impact of 

closing the beds at Pond Lane would not cause them concern. 

 

  

If this proposal to close the beds at Pond Lane goes ahead the 
impact on me will be: 

Positive

Negative

No impact

Page 72



 
 

15 
 

Seven written comments on impact 

were received.  One person felt 

the closure of the beds at Pond 

Lane would ensure more support 

and resources were available to 

people in the community and 

hopefully prevent admission. Most 

concerns were around the loss of 

a local service and its perceived 

benefits (5 comments) and one 

comment on increased workload if 

the service moves: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Q2. If the inpatient service is kept at Pond Lane, what impact will this have on 

you? 

 

If the inpatient service is kept at Pond Lane, what impact will this 
have on you? 

Positive

Negative

No impact

Not having a service that can respond immediately 

and give advice and guidance. 

Being able to get to family member essential  

I have a fear of services being reduced for the 

community. This is not a personal issue. 

I know someone who's relative has benefitted from 

Pond Lane and the fact it is a small, local facility 

OT is well placed to provide services that are not 

offered by any other profession. Denying these 

services to clients by way of removing the service is 

not only denying them medical treatment but also the 

opportunity to enhance their daily living skills and 

general well-being. 

My workload likely to increase if inpatients move to 

my service. 

 

Page 73



 
 

16 
 

 

If the inpatient service is kept at Pond Lane, what impact will this have on you? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Positive  31.6% 6 

Negative 10.5% 2 

No impact 57.9% 11 

If you wish, please explain your reasons for saying this here 4 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

 

Commentary  

More than half of the people (11), who 

answered this question felt that the Inpatient 

service staying at Pond Lane would have no 

impact on them (57.9%). 

 

Six people out of 19 who answered the 

question felt the Inpatient service staying at 

Pond Lane would have a positive impact on 

them (31.6%). 

 

Two people felt it would have a negative effect (10.5%). 

 

Two people sent written comments in response to this question, both of which 

highlighted concerns around the perceived loss of services if the beds did not 

remain in the local area. 

 

 

  

Having a service in 

Wolverhampton that can 

respond in an emergency or 

can give advice and guidance 

A service in Wolverhampton 

for Wolverhampton people 

Page 74



 
 

17 
 

Q3. If the inpatient service is moved out of Wolverhampton to Dudley, Walsall 

and Sandwell, what impact travel wise will this have on carers and families of 

service users? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If the inpatient service is moved out of Wolverhampton to Dudley, 
Walsall and Sandwell, what impact travel wise will this have on 

carers and families of service users? 

Positive

Negative

No impact

If the inpatient service is moved out of Wolverhampton to Dudley, Walsall and 

Sandwell, what impact travel wise will this have on carers and families of 

service users? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Positive 5.3% 1 

Negative 52.6% 10 

No impact 42.1% 8 

If you wish, please explain your reasons for saying this here 8 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

Page 75



 
 

18 
 

 

  

 

 

Commentary 

As demonstrated in the table, the 

majority of respondents to this 

question, ten people (52.6%) felt 

that if the beds were moved there 

would be a negative impact on 

them in terms of travelling out of 

Wolverhampton.  

 

However as eight people (42.1%) 

felt travelling further would have 

no impact on them and one 

person (1.3%) felt travelling would 

have a positive impact on them 

we can conclude that nine people 

did not feel they would experience 

any negative impact on travelling 

if the service was provided 

outside Wolverhampton. 

 

The seven written responses 

received in answer to this 

question all raise concerns 

around having to travel further 

although one respondent does 

suggest that extra support could 

be offered: 

 

 

Some carers may not have 

vehicles ie cars. Have to rely on 

public transport. This could have 

financial implications. 

Families may have to travel 

slightly further this will appear 

negative but extra support could 

be offered 

Many will have to travel further. 

Some carers may be elderly or 

rely on public transport. 

Certainly negative for patients and 

carers from Wolverhampton. 

Disastrous. It's hard enough 

organising visiting within the city. 

The closer a loved one the better. 

The importance of having a 

regular contact with family and 

friends will only help the patient 

recover. Financial pressure of 

travelling around Wolverhampton. 

Unable to visit twice daily   

Obviously 

Page 76



 
 

19 
 

Question four asks people to tell us of any other comments that they would like to be 

considered: 

 

Q4. Any other comments? Please use the space if you have any additional 

comments. 

The six written comments 

received in answer to question 4 

express a concern that if the 

beds do not remain at Pond 

Lane, loss of service provision 

will ensue. One respondent 

comments that these services 

are for the most vulnerable 

people and another respondent 

worries that closing the beds will 

lead to a reduction in resources. 

Concerns are also raised about 

need to travel further to visit 

relatives. Two respondents do 

not understand why the service 

cannot remain in 

Wolverhampton. One person 

feels that the decision to close 

the beds had already been made 

prior to the consultation. 

 

 

 

  

Vulnerable peoples services are being 

omitted or decreased. Vulnerable people in 

Wolverhampton deserve better care. 

I hope that this will not lead to reduction in 

resources as there is a need to promote 

health and independence in the community 

I wonder if this consultation should have been 

undertaken at the outset of the proposal to 

move these beds. Had that been so I would 

have had more confidence in the process. As 

it is I am left with a sense of a fait accompli 

being performed as the process is now 

(possibly) irreversible. Your email and this 

questionaire give no background into the 

rationale behind the proposal. 

dont mind the change 

Why not close the same services in Dudley, 

Sandwell and Walsall they can travel to 

Wolverhampton. What about the commitment 

to having care close to home and family. 

I do not understand why the service is being 

moved in the first place. If it is viable for the 

above boroughs to offer this service, I do not 

understand the drivers preventing 

Wolverhampton from offering it. 

Page 77



 
 

20 
 

Q5. How satisfied are you with the way this consultation is being run? 

 

 

 

How satisfied are you with the way this consultation is being run? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Very satisfied 26.3% 5 

Satisfied 36.8% 7 

Neither satisfied or dissatisfied 5.3% 1 

Dissatisfied 21.1% 4 

Very dissatisfied 10.5% 2 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

Commentary 

More than 50% of respondents (63.1%) were very satisfied or satisfied.  

 

  

How satisfied are you with the way this consultation is being run? 

Very satisfied

Satisfied

Neither satisfied or
dissatisfied

Dissatisfied

Very dissatisfied

Page 78



 
 

21 
 

Conclusion 

 

 When considering the Options, although more people are in favour of Option 1 to 

close the beds (9 people) the difference between those choosing Option 2 to keep 

the beds (7 people) is only a margin of 2 people in favour.  However, when we take 

into consideration Option 3 to have only a community model of care the overall 

margin in favour of not keeping beds open in Pond Lane is 12, therefore the margin 

in favour is three. 

 

 When considering the impact respondents felt the closure of the Pond Lane service 

would have on them, the majority of participants told us that the closure would have 

no impact on them 52.6% (ten people). Five people (26.3%) felt they would 

experience a negative impact and 21.1% of respondents felt the closure would have 

a positive impact on them.  Therefore, in total, 14 people felt that the impact of 

closing the beds at Pond Lane would not cause them concern. 

 

 Most respondents felt that the Pond Lane service remaining would have no impact 

on them, neither, positive or negative. 

 

 Ten respondents were concerned about the impact having to travel further if the 

Pond Lane beds were closed would have on them. However, 9 people in total did not 

express concern around the impact travel would have on them if the beds at Pond 

Lane were to close 

 

 Some people express concern about the potential loss of a local service if the Pond 

Lane service was closed.  The main concern is having to travel further to visit loved 

ones.  There is also a concern that if the service moves elsewhere the loss of more 

local community services will follow and the need for support and advice will not be 

met. One person is also concerned that in an emergency the further distance will 

delay a rapid response. 

  

Page 79



 
 

22 
 

Recommendations 

 

1. It is recommended that the commissioners note the concerns highlighted in 

the report before making final decisions on the option to take forward: 

 Travel issues:  Initial feedback from service users and their families 

highlighted that travel to the beds (if placed outside of the city) may be a 

concern, but this was raised as a possible concern for other families, as it 

wasn’t an issue for the families involved in the pre-engagement. 

Stakeholders noted that relocation of the services to be closer to 

associated services and thereby potentially secure service improvements 

was acknowledged as probably of merit. 52.6% of survey respondents that 

if the beds were moved, there would be a negative impact on them in terms 

of travelling out of Wolverhampton. Written responses suggested that extra 

support could be offered: 

 Options:  12 people chose Options 1 and 3, therefore it would seem that a 

total of 12/19 people would be in agreement with not to keep beds at Pond 

Lane.  

 Impact of closure: 14 survey respondents indicated that the impact of the 

closure of Pond Lane site would not cause them concern. 

 

2. It is also recommended that this report is published and circulated to those 

who took part in the consultation, with thanks to them for the time they spent 

responding and for their very useful input. 

  

Page 80



 
 

23 
 

Equalities monitoring 

Q6. Please state the first letters and numbers of your postcode, eg, WV1 

Response  
 Please state the first letters and 

numbers of your postcode, eg, WV1. 

 

WV2  Answer Options Response Count 

WV1    18 

Wr1  answered question 18 

wV1  skipped question 1 

WV1    

ST17    

WV4    

WV6    

WV10    

WV10    

wv10    

WV10    

WS5     

WV1    

WV4    

B68    

WV3    

WV6    

 

 

Commentary  

The table above shows the postcode/location of the respondents. The majority of 

respondents were from the WV1 and WV10 area.  

 

  

Page 81



 
 

24 
 

Q7. What is your gender? 

 

 

What is your gender? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Male 36.8% 7 

Female 47.4% 9 

Transgender 0.0% 0 

Prefer not to say 15.8% 3 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

Two more women than men answered the questionnaire, three people preferred not 

to say. 

 

  

What is your gender? 

Male

Female

Transgender

Prefer not to say

Page 82



 
 

25 
 

Q8. If female, are you currently pregnant or have you given birth within the last 

12 months? 

 

 

If female, are you currently pregnant or have you given birth within the last 12 

months? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Yes 7.7% 1 

No 69.2% 9 

Prefer not to say 23.1% 3 

answered question 13 

skipped question 6 

 

Only one person completing the survey was pregnant. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

If female, are you currently pregnant or have you given birth within 
the last 12 months? 

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

Page 83



 
 

26 
 

Q9. What is your age? 

 

 

What is your age? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Under 16 0.0% 0 

16-24 10.5% 2 

25-34 10.5% 2 

35-59 36.8% 7 

60-74 21.1% 4 

75+ 5.3% 1 

Prefer not to say 15.8% 3 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

The majority of those completing the survey were aged between 35 and 79. 

 

  

What is your age? 

Under 16

16-24

25-34

35-59

60-74

75+

Prefer not to say

Page 84



 
 

27 
 

Q10. What is your ethnic group? 

 

 

What is your ethnic group? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Asian or Asian British 5.6% 1 

Mixed dual heritage 11.1% 2 

Arab 0.0% 0 

Black or Black British 11.1% 2 

White or White British 72.2% 13 

Chinese 0.0% 0 

Gypsy/Romany/Irish traveller 0.0% 0 

Other (please specify) 0 

answered question 18 

skipped question 1 

 

13 people out of the 18 people who responded to this question were White or White 

British, one Asian or Asian British people responded and two people of Mixed dual 

heritage. 

  

What is your ethnic group? 

Asian or Asian British

Mixed dual heritage

Arab

Black or Black British

White or White British

Chinese

Gypsy/Romany/Irish traveller

Page 85



 
 

28 
 

Q11. Do you look after, or give any help or support to family members, friends, 

neighbours or others because of either: 

 

 

 

Do you look after, or give any help or support to family members, friends, 

neighbours or others because of either: 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Long-term physical or mental-ill-health/disability 47.4% 9 

Problems related to old age 10.5% 2 

No 31.6% 6 

I’d prefer not to say 10.5% 2 

Other, please describe: 0.0% 0 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Do you look after, or give any help or support to family members, 
friends, neighbours or others because of either: 

Long-term physical or mental-
ill-health/disability

Problems related to old age

No

I’d prefer not to say 

Other, please describe:

Page 86



 
 

29 
 

Q12. Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health condition or 

illness which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months? 

Are your day-to-day activities limited because of a health condition or illness which has lasted, 

or is expected to last, at least 12 months? (Please select all that apply) 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Vision (such as due to blindness or partial sight) 0.0% 0 

Hearing (such as due to deafness or partial hearing) 15.8% 3 

Mobility (such as difficulty walking short distances, climbing stairs) 0.0% 0 

Dexterity (such as lifting and carrying objects, using a keyboard) 0.0% 0 

Ability to concentrate, learn or understand (learning disability/difficulty) 0.0% 0 

Memory 0.0% 0 

Mental ill-health 10.5% 2 

Stamina or breathing difficulty or fatigue 0.0% 0 

Social or behavioural issues (for example, due to neuro diverse conditions 

such as autism, attention deficit disorder or Aspergers’ syndrome) 
0.0% 0 

No 68.4% 13 

Prefer not to say 5.3% 1 

Any other condition or illness, please describe: 0.0% 0 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

 

Q13. What is your sexual orientation? 

 

What is your sexual orientation? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Bisexual 15.8% 3 

Heterosexual / 

straight 
63.2% 12 

Gay 0.0% 0 

Lesbian 5.3% 1 

Prefer not to say 15.8% 3 

Other (please 

specify) 
0.0% 0 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 
 

What is your sexual orientation? 

Bisexual

Heterosexual
/ straight
Gay

Lesbian

Page 87



 
 

30 
 

Q14. Are you: 

 

 

Are you: 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

Single - never married 26.3% 5 

Living in a couple - Married/civil partnership 47.4% 9 

Living in a couple - Co-habiting 5.3% 1 

Not living in a couple - Married (but not living with 

husband/wife/civil partner) 
0.0% 0 

Not living in a couple - Separated (still married or in 

a civil partnership) 
0.0% 0 

Not living in a couple - Divorced/dissolved civil 

partnership 
10.5% 2 

Not living in a couple - Widowed/surviving 

partner/civil partner 
0.0% 0 

Prefer not to say 10.5% 2 

Other - please tell us below 0.0% 0 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

 

  

Are you: 
Single - never married

Living in a couple -
Married/civil partnership

Living in a couple - Co-habiting

Not living in a couple - Married
(but not living with
husband/wife/civil partner)
Not living in a couple -
Separated (still married or in a
civil partnership)
Not living in a couple -
Divorced/dissolved civil
partnership
Not living in a couple -
Widowed/surviving partner/civil
partner
Prefer not to say

Other - please tell us below

Page 88



 
 

31 
 

Q15. What is your religion and belief? 

 

 

What is your religion and belief? 

Answer Options 
Response 

Percent 

Response 

Count 

No religion 36.8% 7 

Baha’i 0.0% 0 

Buddhist 0.0% 0 

Hindu 0.0% 0 

Christian (including Church of England, Catholic, 

Protestant and all other Christian denominations) 
47.4% 9 

Jain 0.0% 0 

Jewish 0.0% 0 

Muslim 0.0% 0 

Sikh 0.0% 0 

Prefer not to say 15.8% 3 

Other (please specify) 0.0% 0 

answered question 19 

skipped question 0 

 

What is your religion and belief? 

No religion

Baha’i 

Buddhist

Hindu

Christian (including Church of
England, Catholic, Protestant
and all other Christian
denominations)
Jain

Jewish

Page 89



 
 

32 
 

APPENDIX 1 

Stakeholders list 

 

A41 - Action for Independence 

Action for Diabetes 

Adult Social Care Access Point 

African Caribbean Community 
Initiative (ACCI) 

African Women of Substance 

Against Group Closures 

Age UK  

All Nations 

All Saints Action Network (ASAN) 

Alzheimer's Society 

Anchor Trust 

Animal Assisted Therapy 

Aquarius (Adults) 

Aquarius (Young People) 

Aspiring Futures 

Autism West Midlands 

Awaaz - Dost 

Awaaz (Asian Women's Adhikar 
Association)  

Beacon Centre for the Blind  

Believe 2 Achieve 

Beth Johnson Foundation  

Better Understanding of Dementia for 
Sandwell (BUDS) 

Between You and Me (SEVA) 

Bhai Lalo Gurmat Parchar Society 

BID Services for Deaf People  

Black Country Visual Arts 

Blakenhall Action Community Forum 
(BACF) 

BME Housing Consortium 

BME United 

Brain Tumur Support Group 

Brickkiln Dunstall Gateway Club 

Breast Cancer Action Group 

Buddha Vihara 

Cameroonian Community of 
Wolverhampton 

Carer Support Team 

Catch 22 

Changing Our Lives 

Chinese Welfare and Information 
Centre 

Citizens Advice  Bureau - Bilston 

Citizens Advice  Bureau - County 
Court 

Citizens Advice  Bureau - Low Hill 

Citizens Advice  Bureau - 
Wolverhampton 

Compton Hospice  

Creative Support Wolverhampton 
Women's Wellbeing Centre 

Darlington Street Methodist Church 

Deafblind UK  

Deon Jordan Foundation 

Desire of Nations 

Early Years Childcare & Play Service 

Eating Disorder Service 

Educare  

Equalities Officers 

Equality and Diversity Forum  

Escape Productions 

Eyes to Success 

First Person Plural 

Friends, Families and Travellers 

Gender Matters 

Get Connected 

Gloucester Street Community Centre  

Good Shepherd Ministry 

Guru Nanak Gurdwara 

Guru Nanak Satsang Gurdwara 

Guru Nanak Sikh Gurdwara 

Guru Nanak Sikh Temple 

Headway (Black Country) 

Healthwatch 

Healthy Gay Life  

Hear our Voice 

Hearing Voices 

Home Start 

Hope Community Project 

Hope into Action: Black Country 

Improving Futures 

Include Me TOO 

Page 90



 
 

33 
 

Islamic Society of Britain (ISB) 

Jamia Masjid Bilal and Muslim 
Community Centre 

Jobcentre Plus Wolverhampton 

Kic FM 

Let us Play 

LGBT Network Wolverhampton  

Life Direct 

Life Spring Church 

Local Neighbourhood Partners 

Local Neighbourhood Partners 
(Whitmore Reans) 

MacMillan BID Services for Deaf 
People  

MacMillian Cancer Information and 
Support  

Madina Masjid 

MENCAP   

Mental Health Plus 

Midland Heart 

Moreland Trust 

Mosque and Shia Muslim Community 
and Welfare Centre 

Multiple Sclerosis Therapy Centre 

Muslim Educational Trust 

Nanaksar Thath Isher Darbar 

Navjeevan Project 

Nehemiah-UCHA 

Netmums (Wolverhampton and 
Walsall)  

Neville Garratt Centre for 
independent living  

Newhampton Arts Centre 

No Panic 

Omega Care for Life 

One Voice-Action for Disability  

Over 50's Deaf Group 

Over Eaters Anonymous 

P3 Charity - Direct Access Pathway 
Service 

Patient Advisory Cancer Team 
(PACT) 

Parkinson’s (Early Onset) 

Parkinson's (Older) 

Partnership 

Platform 51 

Positive Action 4 Mental Health 
(PA4MH) 

Positive Participation Ltd 

Quakers 

Ramgarhia Board and Temple 

Ramgarhia Sabha 

Red Cross 

Refugee and Migrant Centre Ltd 

Remploy  

Revive 

Rethink Community Support Service 

Royal Voluntary Service 

Sai Bab Mandir Wolverhampton 

Samaritans 

Scope  

Shaan 

Shine (Midlands Region) 

Sickle Cell and Thalassaemia 
Support Project 

Sikh Gurdwara 

Social Steam Engine 

St Georges House (Hub) 

St Peter and St Paul 

St Peter's Collegiate Church 

Support for over 50's 

Support Group for Autism (Adults) 

Tabernacle Baptist Church 

Terrence Higgins Trust  

The Golden Years Project  

The Haven Wolverhampton  

The Himmatt 

The Kaleidescope Group 

The Key Team 

The Polish Community Centre  

The Sahara Centre 

The Way Youth Zone 

The X2Y LGBT Youth Organisation 

Thomas Pocklington Trust 

TLC College 

Voice 4 Parents 

VoiceAbility Black Country 

Wednesfield Diabetes Group 

Welfare Reform 

Page 91



 
 

34 
 

West Midlands Caribbean Parents 
and Friends Association  

West Midlands Consortium Services 
for Travelling 

West Midlands Pensions Convention 

West Park User Group 

Wolverhampton Black Strategic 
Health Group 

Wolverhampton Church Association 
for the Deaf 

Wolverhampton Connextions Centre 

Wolverhampton Coronary Aftercare 
Support Group 

Wolverhampton Ethnic Minority 
Council 

Wolverhampton Health Advocacy 
Complaints Service 

Wolverhampton Improving Futures 

Wolverhampton Improving Futures -  
Warstones 

Wolverhampton Improving Futures - 
Bilston 

Wolverhampton Improving Futures - 
Haven 

Wolverhampton Improving Futures - 
Heath Town 

Wolverhampton Interfaith Council 

Wolverhampton LD partnership board  

Wolverhampton Mental Health 
Empowerment Team  

Wolverhampton Mosque 

Wolverhampton Muslim Forum 

Wolverhampton Over 50’s Forum  

Wolverhampton Parent Partnership 
Service 

Wolverhampton Pensioners 
Association 

Wolverhampton People’s Parliament  

Wolverhampton Pioneer Ministries 

Wolverhampton Rheumatology 
Support Group 

Wolverhampton Sickle Cell Care & 
Social Activity Centre  

Wolverhampton Sports Specialist 
Centre 

Wolverhampton University  

Wolverhampton Urdu Centre 

Wolverhampton Voluntary Sector 
Council (WVSC)  

Wolverhampton Wellbeing Service 

Wolverhampton WVSC 
Empowerment Team 

Wolverhampton WVSC Drug Service 
User Involvement Team 

Wolverhampton Young Carers 

Wolverhampton Young Minds 

Wolves Disabled Supporters 
Association 

Women of Wolverhampton (WOW)  

YMCA 

Your Helping Hands 

Youth Offending Service 

Youth Organisations of 
Wolverhampton (YOW)  

YWCA 

Zebra Access 

Zebra Uno Ltd  

Elder Asians 

Engagement Youth Empowerment 
Service 

Mental Health Empowered Team 

Positive Action for Mental Health 

Samaritans 

St Georges 

Wolverhampton Coronary Aftercare 
Support Group 

Wolverhampton Ethnic Minority 
Council 

Black Country Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust Members, 
Wolverhampton Constituency, Gold 
member status (53) 

BCPFT Public Governors 
 

 

Page 92



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Panel is recommended to:

1. Recommendations for approval:

The Health Scrutiny Panel is asked to approve:

The plan to embark upon a joint consultation process regarding the relocation of the three 
Assessment and Treatment Learning Disability In-patient beds at Pond Lane Hospital to 
existing In-patient Hospital based services within the Black Country Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust in Dudley, Walsall and Sandwell. 

2. Recommendations for noting: 
           

  The Health Scrutiny Panel is asked to note:

Appendix 2

Health Scrutiny Panel
28 April 2016

Report title An Update Regarding  the NHS Learning 
Disability In-patient provision at Pond Lane 
Hospital which is provided by the Black Country 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust 

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility

Councillor Sandra Samuels

Wards affected All

Accountable director Steven Marshall, Director of Strategy and Transformation

Originating service Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group

Accountable employee(s) Sarah Fellows 
Tel
Email

Mental Health Commissioning Manager
01902 444878
sarahfellows2@nhs.net

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Wolverhampton  Clinical Commissioning 
Group Commissioning Committee

Page 93

mailto:sarahfellows2@nhs.net


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

The Consultation Plan which describes the engagement and consultation with process 
service users and carers, staff, key stakeholders and the general public as outlined in 
Appendix 1. 

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Health Scrutiny Panel with an 
update regarding the NHS Learning Disability In-patient provision at Pond Lane Hospital 
including a plan to formally consult regarding the closure of In-patient services on this 
site and their relocation to alternative provision in Dudley, Sandwell and Walsall and the 
associated key next steps.    

2.0 Background

2.1 Pond lane is a five bedded assessment and treatment unit situated in the Park Fields 
area of Wolverhampton.  As a hospital site it is isolated from any of the other BCPFT 
services including In-patient provision. The service provides specialist assessment and 
treatment In-patient services to male and female adults with learning disabilities and 
additional complex health needs, such as autistic spectrum disorders, mental health 
difficulties and / or challenging behaviour.

2.2 Working with the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group the Black Country 
Mental Health Partnership Trust wishes to relocate the three Pond Lane In-patient beds 
to services provided at Dudley, Sandwell, and Wolverhampton. This will involve the 
closure of the three In-patient beds at Pond Lane. This action is required because the 
very low numbers of beds provided within the service are somewhat isolated from other 
Trust services and this raises environmental, clinical and staffing safety concerns which 
are impacting upon the delivery of the service to this very vulnerable group. A clinically 
safer and more viable service could be provided from the BCPFT Learning Disability In-
patient services in Dudley, Sandwell and Walsall where other Wolverhampton patients 
are in receipt of In-patient services currently. All of these services are less isolated; 
provide a critical mass of service provision that offers clinically and environmentally safer 
services, and all are easy accessible by public transport.   

2.3 In recent years Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group has reduced the level of 
commissioned activity at Pond Lane Hospital from five beds to three in line with reduced 
levels of demand for Wolverhampton patients. Reduction in bed numbers is in keeping 
with the “Transforming Care- national response to Winterbourne View” which will require 
a reduction in bed based services for people with a learning disability and / or autism. 
The revenue from the reduced bed based capacity at Pond Lane is already being 
invested in an alternative community model which will deliver assertive outreach support 
and interventions providing increased care and support for patients and their families 
from Wolverhampton in their own homes.  In addition to this local service development 
Wolverhampton CCG is part of the Black Country Transforming Care Partnership which 
has developed and submitted a robust implementation plan to NHS England which will 

Page 94



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

deliver further service change and transformation over the next three years resulting in 
more community based services including bespoke packages of care. 

3.0 Progress 

3.1 A service specification has been developed for the Wolverhampton Community Model 
which is expected to be in place by June 2016. 

3.2 A consultation plan for the service user and carer and staff and stakeholder and general 
public consultation is attached as Appendix 1. This has been jointly produced by the 
Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group and the Black Country Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust Communications Teams. The Local Authority will be a key stakeholder 
in the consultation process as will other health and social care partners. 

3.3 A Quality Impact Assessment developed by the Black Country Partnership NHS 
Foundation Trust and the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group is attached as 
Appendix 2. The QIA highlights the current difficulties experienced by the service at Pond 
Lane. The QIA also highlights that increased travel time for patient’s visitors to the re-
located services will require special consideration and mitigation to reduce the impact 
upon service user and carer experience to a minimum.

4.0 Moving Forwards

4.1 The Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group and the Black Country Partnership 
NHS Foundation trust seek approval to commence the Consultation Plan as outlined in 
Appendix 1. This process will include working with service user and carer and advocacy 
services to secure engagement with current and future service users and their carers, 
staff, the general public and all relevant stakkeholders in our health and social care 
economy.  

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 Reduction in bed based activity at Pond Lane in 15/16 and 16/17 has released 
investment for community based services. A service specification for an assertive 
outreach model has been developed and is being pro-actively recruited to.   The 
remaining revenue invested in bed based services at Pond Lane will be used to purchase 
beds in the BCPFT in-patient services outlined in the table below:

Page 95



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

LOCATION BCPFT HOSPITAL SITE
Dudley The Ridge Hill Centre

Brierley Hill Road
Nr. Stourbridge
West Midlands
DY8 5ST

Sandwell Penrose House
Heath Lane Hospital
Heath Lane
West Bromwich
B71 2BG

Walsall Orchard Hills
Fallowfield Road
Walsall
WS5 3DY

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 Both the Wolverhampton Clinical Commissioning Group and the Black Country 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust have a legal duty to consult regarding this significant 
service change which involves a re-location of services and this process is being 
undertaken jointly as outlined in the Consultation Plan in Appendix 1.   

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 outlines the Public Sector Equality Duty to engage 
with relevant individuals regarding key decisions. A period of consultation will be required 
as outlined in Appendix 1. 

8.0 Environmental implications

8.1 There are currently no environmental implications associated with this report.

9.0 Human resources implications

9.1 Staff will be consulted as part of the consultation and management of change processes. 

10.0 Corporate landlord implications

10.1 There are no corporate landlord implications arising from this report.

Page 96



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

11.0 Schedule of background papers

11.1 The Consultation Plan is attached as Appendix 1.
           The Quality Impact assessment is attached as Appendix 2. 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	5 Governance Review of the Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust
	6 NHS Learning Disability In-patient provision at Pond Lane Hospital
	v4 Wolverhampton Pond Lane FINAL
	RESTRICTED HEALTH SCRUTINY REPORT POND LANE


